

# **Walden University ScholarWorks**

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2023

# Relationship Between Homelessness, Substance Use, Employment, Living on a Reservation and Tuberculosis Among **Northern Plains Native Americans**

Darla McCloskey Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations



Part of the Epidemiology Commons

# Walden University

College of Health Sciences and Public Policy

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation by

Darla McCloskey

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Tolulope Osoba, Committee Chairperson, Public Health Faculty

Dr. Jeanne Connors, Committee Member, Public Health Faculty

Dr. Peter Anderson, University Reviewer, Public Health Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2023

# Abstract

Relationship Between Homelessness, Substance Use, Employment, Living on a Reservation and Tuberculosis Among Northern Plains Native Americans

by

Darla McCloskey

MPH, Independence University, 2011
BSN, South Dakota State University, 1998

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Philosophy
Epidemiology

Walden University

May 2023

#### Abstract

Native Americans in the Northern Plains have a long history of tuberculosis (TB) infections. There is limited research on the causes of latent TB infections (LTBI) and TB in this population. The purpose of this quantitative study was to assess the relationship between latent TB and factors of homelessness, substance use, employment, living on a reservation, and active or latent TB among this population using the eco-social theory as the theoretical framework. Data from 146 TB cases of Native Americans living in the Northern Plains and diagnosed with TB from 1999 to 2019 were analyzed using chisquare tests that showed a relationship between LTBI and active TB disease. Binary logistic regression analyses showed no statistically significant association between the variables. Age was found to be significantly related to TB, with the odds of active TB decreasing and the odds of latent TB increasing as the study population grew older. The study outcomes could inform the development of policies, processes, and educational resources geared toward decreasing the public health burden of TB among Native American populations. This would refocus TB prevention and treatment programs on the social conditions and inform how public health programming addresses every TB case using a three-pronged approach: public health, medical, and socioeconomic. The potential positive social change that could result is due to the use of the three-pronged approach which could reduce health disparities and increase awareness of TB risks and potential strategies for risk avoidance in marginalized groups.

# Relationship Between Homelessness, Substance Use, Employment, Living on a Reservation and Tuberculosis Among Northern Plains Native Americans

by

# Darla McCloskey

MPH, Independence University, 2011
BSN, South Dakota State University, 1998

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Philosophy
Epidemiology

Walden University

May 2023

# Dedication

This study is dedicated to all the Native Americans sent to the Sioux Sanitarium in Rapid City, South Dakota, from 1939 until the 1960s. Many of the patients succumbed to the TB disease, and some were buried on the grounds of the Sioux Sanitarium. It was not until 1943 with the advent of Streptomycin that these patients received health care other than rest and sunshine.

# Acknowledgments

To Mary Louise McCloskey, my mother, who was a 4-year-old child sent from the St. Francis Mission Boarding School in St. Francis, South Dakota to the Sioux Sanitarium in 1946. As told by her, the white van parked in the front of the school, the sister called her and several other children outside, and then she put them in the van. For a year, my mother rarely saw her parents, Olive and Albert, who struggled with being able to travel the 3-day trip from Rosebud Reservation to Rapid City, South Dakota. After a year, Mary Louise was sent back to the boarding school, only to return to the sanatorium in 1948 for another year. It was hearing of her strength and ability to adapt to hardships that profoundly changed my professional focus and passion.

# Table of Contents

List of Tables	iv
Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study	1
Background	2
Problem Statement	4
Purpose of the Study	8
Research Questions and Hypotheses	9
Theoretical Framework	11
Nature of the Study	12
Definitions	13
Assumptions	15
Scope and Delimitations	15
Limitations	16
Significance	17
Summary and Transition	18
Chapter 2: Literature Review	19
Literature Search Strategy	19
Database and Resources	19
Concepts and Terms Used	20
Article or Study Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria	20
Little Recent Research or Literature	21
Theoretical Foundation	21

Review of Literature	23
TB: World's Silent Epidemic	23
Epidemiology of TB in Native Americans	24
Social and Environmental Issues Impacting the Health of Native	
Americans Living in the United States	25
Genotyping TB to Improve Surveillance and Public Health Policy and	
Practice	28
Summary	33
Chapter 3: Research Method	34
Research Design and Rationale	34
Methodology	35
Study Population	35
Sources and Methods of Data Collection: Archival Data	37
Operationalization of Each Variable	38
Data Analysis Plan	39
Research Question 1	39
Research Question 2	40
Assumptions	40
Individual-Based Model for TB	41
Parameters	42
Threats to Validity	43
Internal Validity	43

External Validity	43
Potential Issues With Validity	44
Construct Validity of the Genotyping of the M. Tuberculosis for E	ach
Active Case Conducted by the CDC	44
Ethical Procedures	45
Summary	46
Chapter 4: Results	47
Research Questions	47
Data Analyses	48
Descriptive Statistics	48
Study Results	51
Research Question 1 Results	54
Research Question 2 Results	56
Summary	58
Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations	59
Interpretation of Findings	59
Limitations of the Study	61
Recommendations	64
Implications	64
Conclusions	65
References	67

# List of Tables

Table 1	Descriptive Statistics (N = 145)	50
Table 2	Age Frequency Data for Cases With Latent TB Infection and Active TB	51
Table 3	Chi-Square Analysis for Model Fit Using Dependent Active TB	52
Table 4	Chi-Square Analysis for Model Fit Using Dependent Latent TB	53
Table 5	Binary Logistic Regression for the Relationship Between Dependent Variable	
Acı	tive Tuberculosis and Independent Predictors	55
Table 6	Binary Logistic Regression for the Relationship Between Dependent Variable	
Lai	tent Tuberculosis Infection (LTBI) and Independent Predictors	57

# Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study

Native Americans in the Northern Great Plains of the United States have a long history of tuberculosis (TB) infections. Despite effective treatments and Native Americans moving to urban communities from reservations, they continue to be disproportionately affected by TB. Native Americans continue to have high rates of TB (3.7/100,000) compared to the general population (2.5/100,000; Stewart, 2018), even though Indian Health Services (IHS) and the state health departments provide access to the same medication and treatment as other Americans. The current study was conducted to ascertain the causes of ongoing TB among this population, focusing on underlying latent TB infection (LTBI), socioeconomic status, and living in urban centers or reservations. The findings of this study could contribute to social change by informing preventive programs designed to reduce TB infections among the Native American population in underserved areas, thereby improving public health directly and indirectly within the community.

Chapter 1 addresses the history of TB rates among the Native American population in the Northern Plains and their socioeconomic conditions. I also address the new surveillance techniques involving the use of genotyping to define TB clusters. The capability to genotype *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* (*M. tuberculosis*) affords public health professionals the ability to differentiate between LTBI and newly contracted infections. The ability to identify these differences during an outbreak of active TB disease will allow public health programs to identify clusters in a population. Information from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC, 2005) TB cluster

investigations outlined how identifying clusters during studies of active TB disease offers a benefit in determining treatment, surveillance, community outreach, and public health programming. A combination of genotyping and epidemiological data collection can identify TB transmission between individuals from different communities, and identify TB reactivation among populations with LTBI through analysis of mutation of the TB genome (Hatherell et al., 2017; Mattelli et al., 2017). TB genetic information could be used as part of a TB elimination program, including early diagnosis and treatment, to improve patient outcomes.

In Chapter 2, I explore the history of TB among Native Americans and cover TB surveillance innovations through analysis of TB genetic testing and a focus on socioeconomic conditions of populations at the highest risk of contracting TB. Chapter 3 details the use of the eco-social theory to analyze the TB cases and how they are affected by the socioeconomic variables: homelessness, multigenerational households, low socioeconomic status, living in an urban area or on a reservation, and substance abuse. The secondary data used were TB genotype and data from contact studies conducted by the Northern Plains state departments of health.

#### **Background**

*M. tuberculosis* has afflicted humans for thousands of years and continues to threaten vulnerable populations around the world. The current countermeasures, which include contact studies and surveillance programs, have been inadequate for vulnerable people, as seen by the continuing infections in the homeless, racial minority groups, and substance abusers (CDC, 2017b). The current TB contact and surveillance guidelines by

the CDC focus on active TB cases and new transmissions. Most U.S. public health TB elimination programs do not address LTBI due to cost and time (CDC, 2017b).

New techniques in genotyping to trace TB cases and distinguish between clusters and new cases (CDC, 2017b) have been applied in high-risk populations such as the homeless and immigrants (Stewart, 2018). The literature showed that genotyping can improve the surveillance of TB in high-risk populations (CDC, 2017b). The literature also showed that Native Americans are at high risk for TB (Stewart, 2018) and adverse socioeconomic conditions (Holm et al., 2010). However, there was a lack of studies related to TB genotyping and the socioeconomic conditions in the TB cases among Native Americans.

The need to identify LTBI in vulnerable populations is vital to effectively and efficiently implementing TB surveillance programs to reach the World Health Organization's (WHO, 2018) goal for TB elimination. The WHO and CDC (2017b) have added genotyping analysis for differentiation between reactivation and new TB cases in populations at the highest burden for TB infections as one way to work toward elimination. One of those populations is the American Indians living in the Northern Plains. There are several populations of American Indians of North Dakota, South Dakota, Nebraska, and Iowa in this region: Cheyenne River Sioux Tribe; Crow Creek Sioux Tribe; Ponca Tribe; Flandreau Santee Sioux Tribe; Yankton Sioux Tribe; Oglala Sioux Tribe; Lower Brule Sioux Tribe; Omaha Tribe of Nebraska, Winnebago Tribe of Nebraska; Turtle Mountain Band of Chippewa; Mandan, Hidatsa, and Arikara Nation;

Rosebud Sioux Tribe; Sac and Fox Tribe of the Mississippi; Santee Sioux Nation; Sisseton-Wahpeton Oyate; Spirit Lake Dakota Nation; and Standing Rock Sioux Tribe.

The Tribal members intermarry, live and work on each other's reservations, and reside in urban areas together. The states in the Northern Plains are considered a low burden for TB. However, the American Indian/Alaska Native (AI/AN) population is among the ethnic groups that have a higher rate of TB infections than other U.S. populations. This population also has high rates of homelessness, low socioeconomic status, and substance abuse (CDC, 2017a; Cormier et al., 2019; O'Leary et al., 2019).

The gap in knowledge in the discipline of public health that the current study addressed was TB and its effects on the AI/AN population living in the Northern Plains of the United States. The recent use of genotyping in other parts of the United States to identify clusters has helped public health professionals move toward improved treatment, surveillance, and eradication of TB in these communities. Therefore, the current study was needed to address the gap in the literature on TB disease in the AI/AN population living in Northern Plains, including TB genotyping and the influence of socioeconomic status, homelessness, multigenerational households, and substance abuse on disease occurrence.

#### **Problem Statement**

There was a paucity of recent research on TB in Native Americans in the Northern Plains. Based on a search of online health research literature databases, I found no recent reports or published research on this issue and limited references from 4 to 5 years ago. However, reports from the last 10 years showed the Native American

populations of the Northern Plains had TB on their reservations and urban communities for decades (Cheek et al., 2014). According to the most recent studies on Native Americans and TB, their TB prevalence rates remain higher than the general population. At least 40%–50% of the TB cases reported in studies conducted in 2016 and 2017 by the Departments of Health were in the Northern Plains (CDC, 2017a). The highest TB incidence for U.S.-born people was among Native Hawaiians/Pacific Islanders (6.5 per 100,000) followed by AI/AN (3.1 per 100,000) and Whites (0.4 per 100,000) as reported by the CDC in 2017. The most recent evidence-based information available on Native Americans with TB indicated that although there have been declines in mortality rates across the United States, the decline has been much slower in the Native American community (Reilley et al., 2014). The Center for disease control and prevention (2018) identified that the U.S. population TB rates declined from 1.1% in 2015 to 1.0% in 2018. During the same period, AI/AN TB rates were 7.0% in 2015 and decreased to 4.0% in 2018 (Talwar et al., 2018).

The CDC (2017a) stated that the general population rate of active TB contacts in the United States was 7.8%, but AI/AN rates were 30.8% of all cases. The CDC also noted that nationwide genotyping of TB clusters from 2015 to 2017 showed that the AI/AN population had an overall rate of 46.5% for single cases of TB that do not share genetic characteristic compared to 53.5% for those with clustered genetic markers (these are variations and mutations on the TB gene) shared between the cases. In two states in the Northern Plains where the largest population of the Northern Plains populations live, North Dakota rates for individual cases were 28.6%, and South Dakota had 42.9%, the

highest percentage (CDC, 2017a). Being among the AI/AN ethnic group is one of the four main risk factors identified by the CDC for contracting TB, other than being foreign-born from a country where TB is endemic (Yuen et al., 2016).

After an extensive literature review of TB within the Native American population in the Northern Plains of the United States, I found a literature gap because the most current peer-reviewed research on this topic was from 2014 and 2015. Reilley et al. (2014) stated that more research on this topic was needed. Reilley et al. compared diagnostic codes for HIV and TB deaths between Native Americans and non-Hispanic Whites. The data for the years 1990–1998 showed that TB mortality in the Native American population was 3.3/100,000 and was statistically significantly higher than non-Hispanic Whites at 0.3/100,000. Although the TB mortality rates for both decreased over the next 10 years from 1999 to 2009, Native Americans' mortality continued to be higher than non-Hispanic Whites (1.5/100,000 compared to 0.1/100,000).

Yuen et al. (2016) analyzed the epidemiology of TB cases that considered recent infections related to transmissions in the United States from January 2011 to September 2014. Yuen et al. looked at specific groups and found that being in certain groups (Native Americans, Native Hawaiian/Pacific Islander, Blacks, and homeless) was more of a factor in TB transmission risk than being foreign-born. Cheek et al. (2014) analyzed the relationship between health disparities and TB in the AI/AN population in the United States. Since the 1950s, AI/ANs living on the reservations had the same health outcome from TB, measles, and smallpox as those living off the reservations and a high morbidity

and mortality rate. The most significant numbers of admissions for TB occurred in Alaska, the Southwest, and the Northern Plains.

I found very few research articles on this subject by reviewing articles regarding genotyping TB and latent TB in Native Americans. I noted gaps in research using TB genotyping, including variates and mutations found in Native Americans living in the Northern Plains, to identify latent TB within the community. Specifically, the following were unknown or unclear:

- The TB incidence rates among the Native American population living in the Northern Plains in the United States are related to LTBI or are affected by low socioeconomic status and physical location.
- 2. There is a difference between the TB incidence rates of those living on the reservations and those living in urban areas.
- 3. There is a correlation between reinfection (LTBI), socioeconomic status, homelessness, multigenerational households, and substance abuse among the Native Americans in the Northern Plains living on the reservation compared to those living in urban areas based on genotyping data.

Interrante et al. (2015) discussed genotyping to identify the difference between reactivation and reinfection of TB disease. Interrante et al. recognized the method of genotyping and defined *reactivation* as recurrent TB 12 months or more after treatment completion. Interrante et al. identified social and environmental conditions that affected the U.S. population-based cohort with data entered into the National TB Surveillance System as exposed to TB. According to Interrante et al., genotyping may help define the

cause of ongoing TB disease in some high-risk populations, including recent immigrants. Interrante et al. also found that if a person remained in a low socioeconomic environment with the first infection, they had a 60% greater chance of a second infection.

Godwin et al. (2017) analyzed, with CDC assistance, TB outbreaks requested by state, tribal, or territorial health departments. Godwin et al. studied how genotyping was applied in identifying the transmission and detection of TB epidemiologic linkage. The CDC assisted with 21 outbreaks during 2009–2015, and Godwin et al. assessed the demographic and social conditions that may have contributed to the outbreak in that area. Godwin et al. found that 79% of cases were U.S.-born, 45% were homeless, and 83% had a history of heavy alcohol or substance abuse. Godwin et al. stated that these data showed that TB prevention and control programs need to address the needs of vulnerable populations. The lack of research on TB infections in Native Americans living in the Northern Plains and genotyping to identify clusters in this population indicated a gap in the literature. Overall, there was a lack of evidence on how low socioeconomic status, homelessness, and substance abuse affect the response to infectious diseases such as TB among Native Americans living in the Northern Plains.

#### **Purpose of the Study**

The purpose of this quantitative study was to examine the association between active TB status, low socioeconomic status, homelessness, multigenerational households, substance abuse, and place of residence of Native Americans living in urban areas or on reservations in the Northern Plains. I aimed to determine whether a relationship exists between (a) TB cases that are reinfections (LTBI) found by genotype variations and

mutations that convert to active TB disease and (b) low socioeconomic status, homelessness, multigenerational households, or substance abuse. I sought to determine whether there was a correlation between the reinfection (LTBI) using genotyping and socioeconomic status, homelessness, and substance abuse among Native Americans in the Northern Plains living on the reservation compared to urban areas.

The data from Talkpoverty.org (2017) identified living conditions for American Indians in urban and reservation settings. Talkpoverty.org found that poverty rates for South Dakota were 13.3% overall, of which 49.3% identified as American Indians, while in North Dakota the overall poverty rate was 10.3%, of which 33.8% identified as American Indians, and in Nebraska the overall rate was 10.8%, of which 22.4% identified as American Indians. Warne and Wescott (2019) discussed the socioeconomic conditions that led this population to have poor health outcomes relating to substance abuse and poverty. Bloss et al. (2011) also identified in an analysis of Native Americans with TB from 2003–2008 that this population was more likely to be homeless (21.9%), suffer from drug use (3.8%) and alcohol use (42.6%), and be unemployed (70.8%). The use of genotyping of TB to identify clusters in vulnerable populations has been invaluable in public health programs. In a Canadian study, Tuite, et al., (2013) found that although the clusters identified by genotyping were small, TB clusters in aboriginal populations showed an odds ratio of 1.41 (95% CI 0.61–3.24), and being homeless had an even higher odds ratio at 3.98 (95% CI 2.44–6.49).

# **Research Questions and Hypotheses**

The research questions (RQs) for this study were as follows:

RQ1: What is the association between socioeconomic status, homelessness, multigenerational households, substance abuse, and place of residence of Native Americans (living in urban areas or on reservations in the Northern Plains) and active TB status?

 $H_0$ 1: There is no association between socioeconomic status, homelessness, multigenerational households, substance abuse, and place of residence of Native Americans (living in urban areas or on reservations in the Northern Plains) and active TB status.

 $H_a$ 1: There is an association between socioeconomic status, homelessness, multigenerational households, substance abuse, place of residence of Native Americans (living in urban areas or on reservations in the Northern Plains), and active TB status.

RQ2: Is there a relationship between socioeconomic status, multigenerational households, homelessness, and substance abuse and reinfections cases (LTBI) among Native Americans living in urban centers compared to reservations in the Northern Plains?

 $H_0$ 2: There is no relationship between socioeconomic status, multigenerational households, homelessness, and substance abuse and active TB cases identified as reinfections among Native Americans living in urban centers compared to reservations in the Northern Plains.

 $H_a2$ : There is a relationship between socioeconomic status, multigenerational households, homelessness, and substance abuse and active TB cases identified as

reinfections among Native Americans living in urban centers compared to reservations in the Northern Plains.

#### Theoretical Framework

In this study, the eco-social theory, first presented by Krieger (2012), was used to discuss integrating the social inequalities and biological effects of TB as it spread among the American Indian population. Krieger (2014) stated that the central function of this theory is to look at how environmental and social exposures affect the level of health and the distribution of disease among any population. The Native American reservations have many conditions that put this population at risk for harmful social conditions, unemployment, violence, alcohol and drug abuse, poverty, poor health, and high morbidity and mortality rates. The IHS (2018) noted that Native Americans' life expectancy is 73 years compared to the general population at 78.5 years. The unemployment prevalence for AI/ANs increased from 8.8% to 15.8% between 2006 and 2010 (CDC, 2013). The eco-social theory outlines the "socially patterned exposureinduced pathogenic pathways, mediated by physiology, behavior and gene expression, that affect the development, growth, regulation, and death of an individual's biological systems, organs and cells, culminating in disease, disability, and death" (Krieger, 2014, p. 653). The theory was used to examine the possible connection between the socioeconomic and living conditions of TB patients and how these conditions affect the disease process or outcomes.

# **Nature of the Study**

I used the quantitative method to analyze TB incidence rates among the Native American population living in the Northern Plains and determine whether the rates of LTBI are related to socioeconomic status and where individuals physically reside. I also analyzed whether there was a difference between the TB incidence rates of those living on the reservations compared to those living in an urban area and their socioeconomic conditions. I analyzed retrospective data and conducted statistical analyses using chi-square tests to answer Research Question 1. The chi-square test is designed to test the association between two nominal or ordinal variables (Frankfort-Nachmias & Leon-Guerrero, 2015).

I also used binary logistic regression to analyze data to answer Research Question 2. These research methods enabled me to investigate the variable relationships by integrating disease processes and environmental conditions (see Statistics Solutions, 2019b). This study's categorical and nominal dependent variables were active TB and LTBI (reinfections). The categorical and nominal independent variables were socioeconomic status, homelessness, multigenerational households, and history of alcohol use/abuse. I studied these variables to identify the effects on the rates of TB among this population. A confounding variable (age) was also considered in the analysis.

Creswell (2014) stated that a quantitative survey design provides numerical data representing the population's trends, attitudes, and opinions. I drew inferences about the chosen sample to define an issue in the general population that I studied. Rudestam and Newton (2015) described how quantitative methodology moves through the epistemic

(meaning the nature of knowledge) to theoretical (models and theories) and empirical levels (obtaining learning through observation).

#### **Definitions**

Great Plains area: The states identified by IHS (2018) in the Great Plains area are North Dakota, South Dakota, Iowa, and Nebraska. This relates to TB patients or contacts with addresses on the State Department of Health TB contact study Section 2 and the IHS Registration section 5.0 Demographics. The address includes street address, city, state, zip, community, and home location.

Homelessness: without a home (Dictionary (2020a). This relates to TB patients or contacts without an address on the State Department of Health TB contact study form Section 2 and the IHS Registration section 5.0 Demographics. The address includes street address, city, state, zip, community, and home location.

*Reservation*: A tract of public land set apart for a special purpose, as for use of an Indian Tribe (Dictionary, 2020b). This relates to TB patients or contacts with address on the State Department of Health TB contact study Section 2 and the IHS Registration section 5.0 Demographics. The address includes street address, city, state, zip, community, and home location.

Multigenerational households: The American Community Survey Briefs 2009-2011 (Lofquist, 2012) identified these households as family households consisting of three or more generations. This relates to TB patients or contacts with the same address on the State Department of Health TB contact study Section 2 and the IHS Registration

section 5.0 Demographics. The address includes street address, city, state, zip, community, and home location.

Socioeconomic status: The position of standing of a person or group in society as determined by a combination of social and economic factors that affect access to education and other resources crucial to an individual's upward mobility (Dictionary, 2020c). These data are found in the IHS Registration regarding insurance, those on Medicaid and those who use IHS health care services for free, data entered into registration section 5.4, alternate resources.

Substance abuse: Long-term pathological use of alcohol or drugs, characterized by daily intoxication, inability to reduce consumption, and impairment in social or occupational function; broadly, alcohol or drug addiction (Dictionary, 2020d). This relates to TB patients' history and physical used to diagnosis and treat TB found in the IHS Electronic Health Record and in the State Department of Health TB contact study pre-investigation section. This section includes other diagnoses (e.g., substance abuse, mental illness, or dementia) that impinge directly on the interview.

Urban area: In population census, a city area considered as inner city plus built-up environments, irrespective of local body administrative boundaries (Dictionary, 2020e). This relates to TB patients or contacts with address on the State Department of Health and Human services TB contact study Section 2 and the IHS Registration section 5.0 Demographics. The address includes street address, city, state, zip, community, and home location.

## **Assumptions**

The primary assumptions from the eco-social theory of disease distribution proposed by Krieger (2012) and Evan et al. (2019) related to the connection between socioeconomic status, living conditions, substance abuse, and how the disease progresses within a population. Based on this theory, I assumed a person's interaction with other people and their environment may increase certain types of infectious and chronic diseases in that population and increase inequities to suffering from the disease. An assumption regarding the IHS registration and history /physical data was that patients provided accurate information when registering for health care services or providing historical health information in the IHS clinics and hospitals. Another assumption was that patients provides accurate details when asked about substance abuse, whom they were in contact with, or where they lived when questioned by the health department during the TB case contact study.

#### **Scope and Delimitations**

This study focused on the AI/AN population living in the Northern Plains of the United States. The states included in the Great Plains area are North Dakota, South Dakota, Nebraska, and Iowa. These states also have moderate to large Native American populations who live on Native American tribal lands or in urban areas. All tribal members and those with tribal lineage within the Great Plains area have access to IHS, hospitals, clinics, or tribal health clinics for health care.

This group was chosen because of the ongoing high rates of TB in the United States and the Great Plains area per capita, even though these groups compose a tiny

percentage of the total population. NA/AIs also have higher poverty rates, drug/alcohol abuse, violence, mortality /morbidity rates, and homelessness than non-Native Americans living in the same non-reservation communities. The rates for TB and the socioeconomic status of the Native American population in the Great Plains area have not improved at the same rates as non-Native American communities in the same location (Center for disease control and prevention, 2018; Substance abuse and mental health services administration (SAMHSA). (2018).

#### Limitations

This study's limitations and challenges included the incompleteness of genotype data entry and TB data from state health departments and IHS contact studies conducted for each incident and studying TB in low-burden states. Concerning the first limitation, genotyping data and information from the contact studies were voluntary, and data completion depended on the people entering it. The second limitation related to when each state started uploading TB data into the TB Genotyping Information Management System (TB GIMS). When different states started uploading at different time points over the years, some genotype data were available for confirmed TB incidents in some states for specific periods. The third limitation was that the research focused on American Indians in the Northern Plains, where most live on reservations compared to small towns and cities in low population states. Therefore, the study findings may not be generalizable to American Indians living in large cities with high-density populations.

# Significance

This study was significant in examining the relationship between active TB status, low socioeconomic status, homelessness, multigenerational households, substance abuse, and residence of Native Americans living in urban areas or on reservations in the Northern Plains. TB risk increases as social conditions such as poverty, inadequate housing, and substance abuse rise in a population (Ortblad et al. 2015). These social conditions among the American Indians in both urban areas and reservations contribute to persistent health disparities relating to TB infections, as shown by morbidity rates of 3.9%, which are higher than the general population's 1.0% (CDC, 2017a). Public health organizations could use this study's findings to plan TB prevention programs for American Indians living in poverty, having substance abuse or poor housing conditions, and living on or off reservations.

The research findings could also inform health care programs for the treatment and management of LTBI, such as during the provision of directly observed therapy in this population. The results of this study could add to the limited literature regarding TB reinfections connected to social conditions for those living on the reservations compared to reinfections rates of those living in urban areas consistently for more than 5 years.

The findings of this study could refocus TB prevention and treatment programs on the social conditions that patients experience, which increase the risks of TB spreading in this population and reinfection. At the community and societal level, the findings from this study could inform decisions on the future prevention of TB cases in the Native American people in the Northern Plains. This study could also influence how public

health programming addresses every TB case using a three-pronged approach: public health, medical, and socioeconomic. Use of the three-pronged process could reduce health disparities by allowing the public health professional to determine when the TB case is closed, instead of the current process in which the case is closed when the individual is no longer infectious. At the individual level, the findings could increase awareness of TB reinfection and its risks and inform potential strategies for risk avoidance in marginalized groups, thereby contributing to positive social change.

## **Summary and Transition**

In Chapter 1, I addressed how AI/ANs continue to have a high rate of TB infections in the Great Plains area compared to other populations in North Dakota, South Dakota, Nebraska, and Iowa. The TB rates in this group have decreased but at a slower pace compared to other ethnic and racial groups. This quantitative study addressed the possible correlation between TB cases and factors such as low socioeconomic status, homelessness, multigenerational households, and substance abuse among the AI/ANs in the Northern Plains living on the reservation compared to urban areas. Chapter 2 provides a review of the literature on TB and previous studies relating to eliminating the disease among high-risk populations. I examine the evidence from Western countries on public health programs focused on surveillance, testing, and treating the most vulnerable people, such as the homeless and migrants, and comorbidities such as HIV or diabetes.

# Chapter 2: Literature Review

This quantitative study involves analyzing TB incidence rates among the Native American populations in the Northern Plains in the United States. This study had a dependent variable of a positive test for active TB and independent variables of low socioeconomic status (below the poverty line), homelessness, multigenerational households, and substance/alcohol use among Native Americans in the Northern Plains living on the reservation compared to urban areas. TB cases were reported to the CDC by the state health departments from 1999 to 2019 in the Northern Plains states including South Dakota, North Dakota, Iowa, and Nebraska.

Most of the research on TB in the Native American population was conducted on chronic disease with TB as a coinfection. However, there was little research on using genotyping TB cases to assess the relationship between latent TB and social conditions in the communities where Native Americans live in the Northern Plains as a cause of the persistently high TB morbidity rates in this population. Chapter 2 presents the literature review of TB history, epidemiology, pathophysiology, genotyping of TB as part of surveillance and identification of clusters, and social and environmental conditions of the Native Americans living in the United States.

# **Literature Search Strategy**

# **Database and Resources**

Preparation for this literature review was conducted by searching online resources using the Preferred Reporting Items for Systemic Reviews and Meta-Analysis. Databases searched included the Walden Library online search engines PubMed, CINAHAL,

EBSCO, Thoreau, Medline, Sage Knowledge, Science Direct, Sage Journals, World Health Organization (WHO), and CDC. Also included in the review are articles from Native American publications *Indian Country Today*, *Native Times*, and advocate flyers and handouts because data on Native Americans were limited when reviewing life in urban settings and living on the reservations.

# **Concepts and Terms Used**

The search included the following conditions, concepts, indices, and truncated terms as individual conditions or a combination of all three during this search. The search terms included *Native American*, *American Indian*, *poverty*, *low socioeconomic status*, *TB*, *latent Tuberculosis*, *TB genotyping*, *TB cluster*, *TB contact studies* and *Native American*, *demographics*, *socioeconomic status*, *alcohol use*, *substance abuse*, *violence*, *homelessness*, *homeless*, *poor housing*, *lack of housing* and *eco-social theory*, *human rights theory*, and *Native American*, *active Tuberculosis*, *LTBI*, *abuse*, *physical abuse*, *genotype*, and *whole genotype*.

# **Article or Study Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria**

The criteria for the articles included in this study were the following: published date from January 2015 to October 2019, peer-reviewed or seminal literature, interventions, or public health policy related to one of the following or a combination of TB, latent TB, TB genotyping, American Indians, Native Americans, homelessness, poverty, or related to substance or alcohol abuse. All articles were in English or were translated into English. Most items were limited to the United States, but some articles related to TB, genotyping, poverty, and eco-social theory were from outside the

continental United States. I used articles and studies using the eco-social theory to report on original development, concepts, and rationale dating from 2001 to 2012. Some materials on social and environmental issues among the American Indians were older than 2008–2015 due to a lack of recent articles or literature.

#### **Little Recent Research or Literature**

Because there was limited peer-reviewed research on Native Americans and TB, I identified some related information based on secondary data from programs that worked with Native Americans regarding alcohol use and poverty. These programs' reporting was supported by federal programs or grants from Health Resources and Services Administration (HRSA), SAMHSA, IHS, and Health and Human Services.

#### **Theoretical Foundation**

Krieger (2014) identified eco-social theory to explain the effects of a population's exposure to societal and ecological conditions and how these exposures affect disease distribution within that population. The eco-social theory takes this concept and addresses the idea of inequities both in race and the social and environmental effects on the overall health of an entire group that shares a race or ethnicity (Krieger, 2014). Bey et al. (2019) used the eco-social theory as the foundation of an Identity Pathway framework to study the effects of discrimination on cardiovascular disease occurrence. Bey et al. analyzed whether the daily racial discrimination had any effect on the rates of cardiovascular disease among African American men and women compared to their White counterparts. Bey et al. questioned whether the social environment, such as poverty, negative lifestyle choices, and disease progression, is affected by the daily barrage of racial discrimination.

The framework predicted that each group had a different outcome on the cardiovascular disease effects, and these outcomes were similar to the rates of racial and gender discrimination identified by the subject.

In another study, Evans (2020) relied on Krieger's concept of eco-social theory that a population's social and political conditions can affect their physical responses to disease conditions. Evans looked at how Krieger's concept of social inequalities' effects on health should have intersectional terminology added. Social and health inequities were expressed as an interlocking system to deal with inequities related to discrimination. Evans outlined the idea that Krieger focused on only the disease causality but not on how social and political inequities affected the population's reaction to disease. The next steps from this concept were to add operationalization and institutional discrimination to the list of inequities. Evans recommended that the eco-social theory should be expanded to address the larger issue of health, including social and ecological disparities between groups.

These studies showed how important the person's environment and social standing are to their overall health and how they are affected by disease. The Native American population is affected by social, ecological, and political policies that have historically failed with outcomes of increased poverty, drug/alcohol use, and homelessness (Talkpoverty, 2017). Adding to this fact, Native Americans also suffer from diseases such as TB at a higher rate (4.0%) compared to the general population 1.0% (CDC, 2017a).

#### **Review of Literature**

#### **TB: World's Silent Epidemic**

Charged with the goal of eliminating or eradicating TB around the world and in the United States, the TB elimination program has been in place since 1989; however, this goal has not been met (LoBue & Mermin, 2017; MacNeil et al., 2019). There has been a decrease in TB cases in Western countries such as the United States, but the vulnerable populations have been left behind in the TB elimination program strategy. The CDC 2009-2015 as cited in Godwin et al., 2017 found that of those affected, 79% were U.S.-born, 45% were homeless, and 83% had a history of heavy alcohol or substance abuse. The World Health Organization (2014, as cited in Matteelli et al., 2017; Rangaka et al., 2015; Stock, 2017) also found that TB elimination programs have decreased rates but failed to eradicate TB and determined it was essential to focus on LTBI, especially with the increase in migration from third world countries to first world countries.

A key reason why LTBI has not been addressed is because of the lack of funding for TB elimination programs and resources (Schito et al., 2017). Many public health programs, health care systems, and providers could use current research evidence to support the reallocation of resources for surveillance, faster testing, better treatment, and vaccines (Centis et al., 2017; Hannah et al., 2017; Padayatchi et al., 2017). Increased funding may also improve testing access such as point-of-care testing to improve detection times (Gkika et al., 2018). Prevention programs could also focus on identifying the TB transmission paths from infection to active disease to be able to break the cycle earlier in the disease process (Séraphin et al., 2016). Improved genetic testing to

determine TB clusters and transmission factors will allow TB elimination programs to dedicate resources to the areas in the country or state that are still reporting TB cases (Blanco-Guillot et al., 2018; Center for disease control and prevention, 2018).

The spread of TB can only be mitigated by interfering with the transmission process; this includes the process from LTBI to developing the active disease (Glynn et al. 2015; Guirado et al. 2015; Hunter, 2016). Early diagnosis of TB is required to interfere with the transmission process; this means that public health practitioners must be able to detect valid *M. tuberculosis* cases separating them from *M. Bovis* and multidrug-resistant TB cases to make sure that treatment is timely and effective (Marks et al. 2019; McBryde et al. 2017; Scott et al. 2016). Follow-up on all testing and diagnosis is essential to meet the goal of TB eradication or elimination, and public health practitioners must move past passive surveillance and increase the use of new tools to improve outcomes (Fox et al., 2018). However, it is important to remember that each person has natural conditions that account for increased susceptibility to contracting TB and developing the disease, which increases morbidity and mortality in high-risk communities (Lindenau et al., 2016; Restrepo, 2016; Zak, 2016).

# **Epidemiology of TB in Native Americans**

In the Northern Plains, American Indians are a small group in low-incident states, but per capita they have always had a higher rate than the general population (Cheek et al., 2014; Reilley et al., 2014). Also, Podewils et al. (2014) noted that TB in the AI/AN population is not a historical affliction but a current health issue that has silently targeted their communities. The rates of TB in this population have decreased over time but are

still much higher per capita than in other ethnic and racial groups in the United States (Stewart et al., 2017; Yuen et al., 2016). This small population is sometimes lost in the data collection because they are mixed with other small racial minority populations or identified in the group called non-Hispanic, and national data analysis does not show AI/AN as an individual group (Adekoya et al., 2015; Salinas et al. 2016). Combining races leads to a lack of accurate data on TB morbidity and mortality in the AI/AN population throughout the United States and Northern Plains (Talwar et al., 2018).

Social and Environmental Issues Impacting the Health of Native Americans Living in the United States

Low socioeconomic status, homelessness, and substance abuse have been and are plaguing the American Indian/Alaska Natives for generations (Patterson et al., 2015). Miserable social conditions have led to a stagnating rate in the incidence of infectious diseases like TB, and many believe that socioeconomic conditions are a significant factor in the adverse outcomes that this population suffers from (Ponicki et al., 2018). There does not seem to be a difference between AI/ANs who live in urban areas versus reservations when it comes to substance abuse, violence, or infectious diseases. However, many experience a loss of connectedness to their tribe, following traditional practices, and a loss of spirituality. Although urban AI/ANs are found to have issues with the loss of traditions, (Brown, et al., 2016), those AI/ANs living on the reservations also suffer from this loss. AI/ANs not only have higher rates of TB, but also, they are infected at a young age; this increases mortality and morbidity rates in the adult population (Stanley & Swaim, 2018). It is this deterioration of health that adult AI/ANs suffer from that leads to

an increased risk of poverty, homelessness, and contracting infectious diseases (Cunningham, et al., 2016; Chartier, et al., 2013; Volkmann, 2016).

American Indians and Alaska Natives still deal with issues such as racism that increase disconnect from the community at large and lead to a rise in substance and alcohol abuse (Vaeth, et al., 2017; Huyser et al., 2018). The American Indian tribes in the Northern Plains have higher rates of substance abuse than tribes from other areas in the United States, but funding for prevention and treatment are the same for all tribes (Vaeth, et al., 2017; Burduli et al., (2018). Awareness of substance abuse of opioids is critical but interventions must be designed to meet the needs of communities where they live. A study found that opioid use might not have high rates on the Northern Plains reservations because of a lack of access to and availability of cheaper drugs like Meth and alcohol (Tipps, et al., 2018).

The AI/AN communities suffer from poverty, substance abuse, and homelessness, which increase infectious diseases like TB, and these are the same high-risk conditions identified by the CDC and WHO for TB transmission. The American Indians in the Northern Plains may be the smallest ethnic groups but have a high rate of health disparity increased due to behavioral factors that lead to adverse outcomes (Holm, et al, 2010). The social and socioeconomic conditions that Native Americans live in put them at significant risk for having LTBI and thus increased testing should be part of their health care, (Holman et al., 2011; Bibbins-Domingo, 2016; Gounder et al., 2017).

The Northern Plains has two of the ten largest reservations in the United States and suffers from large numbers of social, poverty, hunger, and homeliness (Thorton,

2015; Bread for the world, 2018). This group also suffers from a lower health status, lower life expectancy, inadequate education, high poverty rates, economic adversity, and poor social, and environmental conditions. This population tends to die younger, and suffer more from chronic disease, infectious disease, self-injury, unintentional injury, and assaults/homicide per capita than any other demographic (Indian Health Services, 2018; Burnette and Figley, 2017).

Kong, et al. (2018) looked at how American Indians in the Northern Plains (South Dakota) reacted to childhood abuse and how it affected their chances of being abused by an intimate partner. They found that childhood abuse leads to an increase in violence, close and physical. They also found that they were also at a higher risk of depression and despair (Kong et al., 2018). Strategies for working with this population must focus on the population's perception of their health and must be engaged positively and productively (Leston, et al., 2018; Duwe, et al., 2014).

If American Indians inhabit a sick, violent, poverty-stricken environment, it is challenging to be healthy bodily or mentally (Narhi & Matthies, 2018; Evans, et al., 2018; Lawrence & Forbat, 2019). It is important these populations reconnect with their traditions and culture when trying to improve their lives and environment (Krieger, 2012; Matamonasa-Bennett, 2017). The eco-social framework emphasized the need for all the policies, resources, and strategies to incorporate the person's perception of their environment and social interactions (McGinnis & Ostrom, 2014).

The eco-social framework by Krieger, & Guskin, (2001) when applied to women's health related to TB, showed that women progress from infection to disease at a

faster rate. It also reflects that current public health policy focuses on treatment to stop infections from occurring and not focusing on when that population continues to have active cases. However, the eco-social framework does not address why some are affected by social, racial, economic, or biological conditions that put them at risk for adverse outcomes. Krieger and Guskin (2001) stated that public policy and research must consider these issues when developing or implementing strategies for populations that have social and economic inequities.

## Genotyping TB to Improve Surveillance and Public Health Policy and Practice

The use of whole-genome sequencing (WGS) during TB outbreaks, especially in areas of low disease burden, is vital to the goal of eliminating TB. Whole-genome testing would provide a faster and more accurate diagnosis of the virulence of the disease, define the transmission process, and connect to probable sources (Gilchrist et al., 2015). Using whole-genome-sequencing to determine transmission and its effects in high-risk groups, including the use of TB lineages along with epidemiological investigations, can improve overall disease management (Nikolayevaskyy, et al., 2016; Hatherall, et al., 2016; Guthrie et al., 2018).

The CDC explains why genotyping is used to describe a disease cluster, and how to link unsuspected cases through epidemiological connections in the genotype isolates, and variations (Center for disease control and prevention, 2018; Teeter et al. 2017). Whole genomic sequencing has been used in small outbreaks efficiently, and effectively to identify TB and treatment to meet the needs of the World Health Organization TB response around the world (Votintseva, et al., 2017). Another use for whole genomic

testing is in the diagnosis of multidrug-resistant TB (MDR), identification of the biotinylated RNA explicitly designed to bait M. tuberculum DNA. This identifies the entire TB genome from the sputum sample by using whole genomic sequencing.

WGS thus eliminates the need for culture, however, one major issue is that currently the technology for WGS is in countries with relatively small numbers of multidrug-resistant TB (Brown et al., 2015; Pankhurst, et. al., 2015; Lee & Behr, 2016). The use of WGS could more accurately determine if a case were to be MDR and enable more timely and appropriate treatment. The use of whole genomic sequencing would allow for the identification of MDR, transmission between hosts, and the general pattern of transmission during an outbreak (Yang et al., 2017; Witney, et al., 2016; Puerto, et al., 2015). Analysis of the genome of TB to identify any differences in the genes expressed in TB disease, and pathways, or polygenic/Omni genic research could potentially aid in the development of new treatments, or vaccines. It could also address the diversity in the host's genetic susceptibility, the genetics of the TB in that region, and environmental conditions that allow infections to occur in that specific family, community, or country Stein, et al. (2017).

The use of whole-genome sequencing (WGS) could pave the way for future TB research. Data collected from WGS collected around the world could be entered into a database that would provide access to TB DNA genomes to those countries that are not financially able to use this process on all TB and LTBI patients. Further down the line, all the parts of this process will improve, faster, with expanded capabilities for sequencing, lower costs, faster diagnosis of multidrug resistance TB and an increase in data for

research studies to improve our chances of eliminating TB in the future (Colijn, & Cohen, 2016). Genotyping can be used to determine new transmission versus reactivation of latent TB. Using genotyping means that the TB control programs must adjust disparities and reallocate resources to decrease it (Noppert, et al., 2017).

#### The Individual-based model for TB

Researchers and providers cannot forget that, along with all the TB genetic data, social and environmental conditions need to be considered. Such as, the living conditions that TB patients encounter which puts them at risk of contracting or advancing from TB infection to a disease state. For TB elimination programs to move toward eliminating latent TB disease, it is important to first determine the rates within the populations. One way is to use mathematical models, including the use of age-structured sociodemographic individual-based models (IbM) with the addition of a time-evolving structure in a defined population with a low burden for TB. The IbM by including age structure to focus on contact studies or investigations on an index case may enable researchers to determine the factors linked to the reactivation of LTBI cases in that population accurately. By adding the socio-demographic aspects, they could analyze the transmission rates in specific settings where the contacts are located. This model has worked well with longitudinal research, whether or not there was a new transmission (Ackley et al., 2015). It has been applied to assess the effectiveness of TB elimination programs and is malleable enough to evaluate TB in different environments (Guzzetta et al., 2011; Burzynski, 2017).

The Individual-based model for TB can be used to analyze the effects of TB on a sample and to analyze how their social, environmental, and physical conditions affect the TB process from infection to disease. The IbM model can be used to analyze data from low incident populations, and assess all the stages of TB infection, and illness. The data on latent TB infection can also be calculated, and it allows a researcher to use variables that are more specific to any population or community (Prats et al., 2016). Zhang, Li & Zhang (2015) studied the epidemiological consequences of both the prevention and health care of TB patients. They found that three main measures were needed to eradicate TB in this population, decrease transmission, increase hospitalizations for infectious patients, and increase treatment of latent TB in the community. The article discussed the models for TB that could simulate the transmission, and disease process for TB to allow predictions on rates for that population. These models were based on multiple mathematical systems that can be differential equations or simulation models, including the Markov Chain Monte Carlo methods (Ozcaglar, et al., 2012). Simple estimations of LTBI in a community have used the data from genotyping the active TB cases to estimate the number of LTBI cases in that community then. Thus, finding LTBI cases can be resolved by the move to whole-genome sequencing as this form of analysis is costeffective because it uses the data on active cases reported, and decreases the need to test or evaluate the population for LTBI (Haddad, et al., 2018).

The evidence found in the literature review shows a link between TB, and socioeconomic conditions. Yuen et al. (2016) analyzed the epidemiology of TB cases for recent infections related to transmissions in the US from January 2011- September 2014,

and found that being Native American, Native Hawaiian/Pacific Islander, Black, and homeless were more of a factor for TB transmission than being foreign-born. Another article by Cheek et al. (2014) reported that TB rates of hospitalizations among the A.I./ANs declined from 1998 – 2006 but remained higher than the general population. The most significant number of admissions for TB occurred in Alaska, Southwest, and the Northern Plains. These same areas also had a high rate of disparities, and the Northern Plains average mortality was 4-5 times higher than that of the general population.

The connection between social conditions such as alcohol use and TB was noted by Godwin et al. (2017) who analyzed the CDC data from 21 outbreaks from 2009 to 2015 and looked at the demographic and social conditions that may have contributed to the outbreaks. They found that of those affected, 79% were US-born, 45% were homeless, and 83% had a history of heavy alcohol or substance abuse. As did the study by Ponicki et al., (2018) who analyzed the high rates of alcohol and drug-related health conditions or injuries in the Northern Plains Indian populations. They looked at inpatient records for hospitals in South Dakota, and Nebraska, and focused on the zip codes in areas with the highest Native American population. The zip codes included the reservations, and areas with a large population of Native Americans. The results showed that Native American populations living on the reservations had higher rates of self-inflicted injury and drug/alcohol abuse.

Finally, Volkmann, et al. (2016) studied the connection between TB infection and alcohol abuse. The alcoholics were at high risk of poverty, housing issues, and lack of

health care along with an ability to complete treatment provided by directly observed therapy. They were uncertain if the increase in TB transmission was due to the physical damage the alcohol had done, or the social conditions that the person was living in, poor diet, poor housing, poor general health and lowered immune system. Overall, the literature shows that there is a link between low socioeconomic status, substance abuse, lack of housing, and TB infections.

## **Summary**

In Chapter 2, I identified the historical aspect of TB in the AI/AN population in the US. The review also focused on the social and economic conditions that support TB morbidity, and mortality in the communities that suffer from lower socioeconomic status, such as AI/ANs. The literature and research review included a discussion of how the ecosocial theory could be used to evaluate the connection between TB disease, and social conditions in the AI/AN population in the United States. The review addressed the use of genotyping TB as part of a TB elimination program and the links to the public health policy needed to decrease TB rates.

Chapter 3 will outline the study methods, define the independent variables (socioeconomic status, homelessness, physical location, cohabitation, substance, and alcohol use in the AI/NA population). I will also describe statistical methods used in the study such as chi-square analyses and binary logistic regression.

## Chapter 3: Research Method

The research design was a quantitative study using secondary data to analyze the relationship between TB infection/reinfection and socioeconomic factors in Native Americans in the Northern Plains. The dependent variable was TB infections. The independent variables were socioeconomic status, multigenerational households, homelessness, residence, and substance abuse. The target population was Native Americans in the Northern Plains of all ages diagnosed with TB infections from 1999 to 2019.

The sample size was 150 cases from the secondary data based on G\*power analysis, which included an effect size of 0.3 and a power of 80%. The methodology involved manually collecting secondary TB data from each state's department of health contact study, including TB genotyping and treatment. The statistical analysis was conducted using chi-square tests and binary logistic regression. Threats to internal validity are outlined in this chapter, which included time and order and historical threats. Ethical considerations are also described, which included using numerical identifiers for each TB case and excluding contact with vulnerable populations.

## **Research Design and Rationale**

According to Creswell (2014), a quantitative survey design provides numerical data representing the population's trends, attitudes, and opinions. Rudestam and Newton (2015) described the quantitative approach in a more defined manner from the epistemic levels, meaning the nature of knowledge, theoretical meaning models and theories, and

empirical meaning obtaining learning through observation. I aimed to draw inferences about the chosen sample to define the study topic in the general population studied.

I used a quantitative method to analyze retrospective data and statistical analysis including a chi-square test to answer Research Question 1 regarding potential associations. The chi-square test is nonparametric and designed to test the statistical significance or relationship between categorical variables (Frankfort-Nachmias & Leon-Guerrero, 2015). I analyzed two nominal variables: active TB and LTBI cases.

I conducted binary logistic regression analysis to answer Research Question 2 and determine the relationship between the nominal dependent variable (TB acute and latent) and one or more nominal, ordinal, interval, or ratio independent variables: residency, socioeconomic status, homelessness, multigenerational households, and substance abuse. This design is used to identify the relationship between the dependent and independent variables by looking for an association between the variances in the dependent variable (McDonald, 2014). This research approach allows the investigation into the variable relationship to be more holistic and robust by integrating disease processes and environmental conditions (Yin, 1994).

## Methodology

## **Study Population**

The study population consisted of people identifying as Native

American/American Indian living in the Great Plains area of South Dakota, North

Dakota, Nebraska, and Iowa. The sample was active cases of TB or on a contact list for a

TB case. Patients of all ages were sample cases during this study; the sample included all

cases due to a small number of overall TB cases in these low-burden states. Inclusion criteria were American Indians from a tribe in the Northern Plains, including males and females of all ages who had contracted and developed the TB disease. Eligible individuals were identified using the demographic and diagnostic data retrieved from the South Dakota Department of Health's data during the TB contact investigation. Patients not on both data systems were excluded.

The sample size was based on 150 cases derived from the secondary data using the following parameters: CI = 95%, alpha Type I error = 0.05, beta Type II error = 0.2, power = .8. The G\*power analysis for this study included an effect size of 0.3 and a power of 80% and required a total sample of 150 to test the association at 5% levels using a two-tailed test. The G\*power Version 3.1.9.7 was used to carry out the sample size calculation.

The cases were determined by the completeness of the records collected by the state health departments, and IHS Resource and Patient Management System (RPMS) databases. To answer Research Question 1, I compared the level of TB outbreaks in Native American counties and determined how many were related to reinfection or whether these were cases of LTBI breaking down. I used the secondary data from the patient records for the IHS RPMS registration database and the state TB contact study data for the past 2 years to determine location category (reservation or urban). These data were added to the spreadsheet with the genotyping data for each case. To answer Research Question 2, I used data from the IHS RPMS database, State Health Department contact studies to determine whether there was ongoing LTBI in the population that was

leading to the outbreaks or whether there was a relationship between the non-Native American community and demographic shifts.

#### Sources and Methods of Data Collection: Archival Data

The data source for Research Question 1 was secondary data from IHS on active TB and LTBI. I searched the data for each state in the Northern Plains; each one had a specific code that identified its data. I used a spreadsheet to analyze the data after the system provided a list type report for each state. The data source for the secondary data to answer Research Question 2 included socioeconomic data obtained from contact studies that followed the CDC contact study process guidelines for TB surveillance. The forms contained the patient's name, address, age, gender, community, family, and household members, and everyone who worked with or socialized with the patient.

The department of health collects all labs, X-rays, and treatments the patient received and their history, if available. The CDC (2005) has a specific set of algorithms that direct the investigator on each step of the process. Once retrieved, these studies can be obtained from each state department of health and IHS public health departments. The medical data on TB diagnosis and patient demographics collected from IHS RPMS patient records and registration system include age, gender, and insurance (IHS only, Medicaid/Medicare/private insurance). This system also contains substance abuse diagnosis for active TB cases and residence on reservation (zip code identified as being on the reservation lands for larger reservations and address with the town, or the city within the reservation boundaries). I then compared these records to those not falling into either of these categories identified by the patient from a contact study from the South

Dakota Department of Health: no data provided by IHS RPMS registration and State Department of Health for North Dakota, Nebraska, and Iowa.

## Operationalization of Each Variable

The genotype data from the TB cases in the Northern Plains were not available from the CDC GIMS program database, the IHS RPMS system, and state health departments. The South Dakota Department of Health entered these cases and contact study data and TB sputum samples, providing both demographic on each case. Predictors of interest included demographic information regarding gender, insurance (IHS only, Medicaid/Medicare/private insurance), address, and substance abuse diagnosis for active TB cases from contact study from IHS RPMS registration and electronic health record and state department of health for North Dakota, South Dakota, Nebraska, and Iowa investigation data. These secondary data provided information on tribal affiliation, substance abuse, residence, and TB data. I manually entered data into a spreadsheet using the following codes: positive for TB 0 = reinfection, 1 = new infection; substance abuse 0= yes, 1 = no; socioeconomic status related to the poverty line 0 = below, 1 = above, 2 = aboveunknown; homelessness 0 = yes, 1 = no; multigenerational households 0 = yes, 1 = no; and residence 0 = reservation, 1 = urban. The data were then be analyzed using binary logistic regression to assess relationships. Address was coded as "live on reservation" (zip code identified as being on the reservation lands for larger reservations and address within a town or city within the reservation boundaries). The data were compared to those not falling into either of these categories identified by a patient from a contact study from IHS RPMS registration and the state department of health for North Dakota, South Dakota, Nebraska, and Iowa.

#### **Data Analysis Plan**

The data collected from state health departments' contact study form were manually entered into a spreadsheet. The data were cleaned up by identifying outliers in the data, starting with pronounced errors (inverted numbers, misspelled words). Next, I looked at strange patterns to determine whether most of the data had a lower possibility of containing skewed or erroneous data compared to a minority that were obvious errors. I analyzed all contact studies conducted by the state departments of health for each patient for erroneous errors to fix the error or omit it from the sample. Once the data spreadsheet was clean, the data were analyzed using SPSS Version 23 to conduct the chisquare and binary logistic regression tests.

## **Research Question 1**

What is the association between socioeconomic status, homelessness, multigenerational households, substance abuse, and place of residence of Native Americans (living in urban areas or on reservations in the Northern Plains) and active TB status? This research question was addressed using a chi-square test of association. The chi-square test is nonparametric and designed to test the significant association between categorical variables (Frankfort-Nachmias & Leon-Guerrero, 2015). I analyzed two nominal variables: TB cases and LTBI cases.

The chi-square test does not require assumptions regarding the distribution of data points from the population analyzed (Frankfort-Nachamias and Leon-Guerrero, 2015).

The TB was two categories of nominal variables, one active and those that have a history of LTBI. Each variable was dichotomous with or without a history of LTBI.

## **Research Question 2**

Is there a relationship between socioeconomic status, multigenerational households, homelessness, and substance abuse and reinfections cases (LTBI) among the Native Americans living in urban centers versus reservations in the Northern Plains? This research question was addressed using binary logistic regression analyses. Binary logistic regression is used when predicting a nominal binary outcome of the dichotomous variable. Logistic regression explains the relationship between the nominal dependent variable: TB (active and LTBI) and one or more (nominal, ordinal, interval, or ratio-level) variables. I used nominal independent variables: residency, socioeconomic status, homelessness/ multigenerational households, and substance abuse. If needed, the R2 using the Hosmer-Lemeshow goodness of fit test could be used (Statistics Solutions, 2019).

#### Assumptions

Assumption 1 was dependent variables are dichotomous variables. Assumption 2 was one or more of the independent variables are categorical (ordinal, nominal).

Assumption 3 was the dependent variable should have exclusive and exhaustive categories. Assumption 4 was logits of any dependent variable will check with the SPSS program (see Statistic Solutions, 2019).

The descriptive analysis of this study showed how new TB cases compared to reinfections based on confirmatory testing and categories were measured against the

independent variables identified as low socioeconomic status (below the poverty line), homeless or multigenerational households, substance abuse, and residency (urban or reservation) findings were assessed for effects on TB infection rates. I used binary logistic regression analysis to identify potential associations between TB genotype with or without variables and social conditions among the Native American population in the Northern Plains.

The binary dependent variable was positive for TB: 0 = reinfection, 1 = new infection. TB cases from 2000 to 2019, new infections and reinfection. The independent variables were the following:

- homelessness 0 = yes, 1 = no
- socioeconomic status employment; 0 = below, 1 = above, 2 = unknown
- history of substance abuse 0 = yes, 1 = no
- reservation address zip code within the boundaries of a federally recognized Indian Reservation 0 = reservation, 1 = urban.

The confounder was age.

#### **Individual-Based Model for TB**

For the identification of the rates of latent TB infection in this population, a mathematical model was used. The IbM model can analyze data from low-incident populations by looking at all the stages of TB infection and disease, and the data calculated on latent TB infection. An individual-based model for TB can be used to analyze the effects of TB on the sample and analyze how their social, environmental, and physical conditions affect the TB process from infection to disease. This model can add

issues with political, or public health policy, and take into consideration the social, environmental, and physical aspects of the population. This IbM model for TB allows a researcher to use variables that are more specific to any demographic or community (Prats et al. 2016).

This model was based on TB patients in two categories: one who is infected, and has no disease, and one with disease, and symptoms. The WHO and CDC identify that only 10% of those infected will develop the disease, so the longer they have been infected, the chance of developing the disease decreases. The IbM analyses of the TB sequelae focus on patient's age at the time of infection, time from infection to disease, disease to diagnosis, time from diagnosis to start treatment (identify if treatment is abandoned or finished), time from treatment to recover, and death (Prats et al., 2016).

#### **Parameters**

The parameters for TB data: patients with TB diagnosis, which includes: TB detection active cases diseased state identified through contact study, or present of a cavitary lesions. Any diagnosis delay = time from contact to positive test in days, was treatment started, completed, or abandoned. Review of risk factors: lower socioeconomic status, homeless, history of substance abuse, or multigenerational households. Place of residence lives on reservation with an address within reservation boundaries or do they live in an urban area with populations > 2,000 not located within the boundaries of the reservation.

## Threats to Validity

#### **Internal Validity**

The internal threats to the validity of this study are historical and time order. Both time order, and historical treats can lead to selection bias while collecting each TB case data. Time order threat can occur when the researcher cannot determine the time sequence of the events being studied (Urban & van Eeden-Moorefield, 2018). In this study, the timing of demographic information regarding residence, cohabitants, substance use, or income was collected, and TB exposure, or disease. The historical threat is identified when an event occurs before, or during the study that could influence the results (Urban & van Eeden-Moorefield, 2018). This study could have included missed, inaccurate or incomplete data that may result from changes in data collection and changes to the contact study process from 1999 – 2019. The data on a spreadsheet was analyzed, excluding data that is incomplete or inaccurate if data is not available in another report form that was collected.

#### **External Validity**

Using genotyping in vulnerable or minority populations to identify latent tuberculosis infections, enhances the accuracy of identification of LTBI in a population which allows public health programs to mitigate the risk posed to the community by TB, and increases early treatment before they become contagious, thus decreasing overall TB cases. However, the findings may only be generalized to Native Americans in the study population.

## **Potential Issues With Validity**

This study considered confounding bias due to co-morbid conditions, or conditions that lower the immune system of the TB patient. These could be confounding variables because they are also risk factors for contracting TB. In order to mitigate this bias, I included only cases where the subject with co-morbidities are within limits identified as controlled per medical guidelines.

Selection bias is possible due to completeness and accuracy of data entered into the IHS RPMS database on TB cases. To decrease this discrepancy, a comparison of the demographic and historical medical data from both the contact study conducted by the state health departments to the IHS RPMS data to be sure that they used complete and accurate data.

Information bias could occur due to misdiagnosed TB cases, or patients lost to follow up when confirming TB diagnosis. Only active cases with diagnostic confirmation (chest x-ray, genotype) testing were included in this study. Thus, the only cases included in this study were TB cases in Native Americans with confirmed TB.

# Construct Validity of the Genotyping of the M. Tuberculosis for Each Active Case Conducted by the CDC

The CDC allows a standardized system of genotyping M. tuberculosis isolates with new methods of spoligotyping and MIRU analysis; these testing methods are based on the PRC, and provide a validated approach with much more rapid results (CDC, 2012). However, due to lack of data, I was not able to utilize genotyping to identify the

variation, and mutations based on secondary data from the CDC, based on the genotyping process involving the use of IS6110-based RFLP genotyping.

#### **Ethical Procedures**

For this study, all the data was secondary, and no partnerships with external organizations were needed. Government agencies with secondary data have processes for accessing the data. The IHS has a data application process to obtain data on demographic, and medical information on patients in the RPMS data bank. I applied for IRB approval from the following data sources after I gained approval from Walden University 08-30-21-0652590; all IRB requests require prior approval from Walden. To access the IHS RPMS, I sent the proposal to the Great Plains Area Institutional Review Boards for review, and approval. I submitted applications to South Dakota, North Dakota, Nebraska, and Iowa State Health Departments to access data on the TB contact investigations. To access the Nebraska State Health department, I completed the written request, and proposal to DHHS. To access the South Dakota Health Department, I completed the application for IRB approval. To access the North Dakota Health Department, I completed the IRB request, and send it to NDDoH, to determine if my request needs IRB approval. To access the Iowa health department, I completed the online form requesting IRB approval.

All reporting identified Native Americans living in the Northern Plains in urban areas, or on reservations. A numerical identifier was used to de-identify all data from each case, and a master list of numbers was assigned to each patient for the study. For each of the organizations that own their databases, an IRB application was submitted

asking the organization if they wanted to be the IRB of record; their response was added to the IRB application for Walden University. This study was not a part of any "piloting" or regarded as a part of a pilot.

The data used in this study was secondary data from records already collected.

The research and data collection are not a part of my regular job duties; I do work for IHS but not in the operation where the TB data is collected, analyzed, or stored. IHS database RPMS retains the data on patient demographics, TB tests, and treatment. This study was reported without any names or identifiers from the cases used.

#### **Summary**

The data collection was secondary data from the State departments of health in the Northern Plains contact studies, and the registration and electronic health records in Indian Health Services. I analyzed TB among the Native Americans living in the Northern Plains, and assessed the link between TB incidence rates, and socioeconomic status, housing, and substance abuse history in the proposed study manually entering data into the spreadsheet and analyzing the outcomes. All data was protected by removing all identifiable patient data during the collection, analysis, and final report. Chapter 4, describes the results of the study based on analyses involving the chi-square test, and binary logistic regression test, integrating the individual-based model for TB to examine the latent TB infection rates.

## Chapter 4: Results

This chapter presents the descriptive statistics, chi-square results, and binary logistic regression analysis results. Plans for data analysis were outlined in Chapter 3. To determine whether a relationship existed between the TB cases that were reinfections (LTBI), and socioeconomic status, employment, homelessness, living on a reservation, or substance abuse, I addressed the following questions using the analytical methods outlined in Chapter 3.

#### **Research Questions**

RQ1: What is the association between socioeconomic status, homelessness, multigenerational households, substance abuse, and place of residence of Native Americans (living in urban areas or on reservations in the Northern Plains) and active TB status?

 $H_0$ 1: There is no association between socioeconomic status, homelessness, multigenerational households, substance abuse, and place of residence of Native Americans (living in urban areas or on reservations in the Northern Plains) and active TB status.

 $H_a$ 1: There is an association between socioeconomic status, homelessness, multigenerational households, substance abuse, and place of residence of Native Americans (living in urban areas or on reservations in the Northern Plains), and active TB status.

RQ 2: Is there a relationship between socioeconomic status, multigenerational households, homelessness, and substance abuse and reinfections cases (LTBI) among the Native Americans living in urban centers versus reservations in the Northern Plains?

 $H_02$ : There is no relationship between socioeconomic status, multigenerational households, homelessness, and substance abuse among the Native Americans living in urban centers versus reservations in the Northern Plains and active TB cases identified as reinfections.

 $H_a$ 2: There is a relationship between socioeconomic status, multigenerational households, homelessness, and substance abuse among the Native Americans living in urban centers versus reservations in the Northern Plains and active TB cases identified as reinfections.

#### **Data Analyses**

Once Walden Institutional Review Board (IRB) was obtained, I obtained secondary data sets on 145 cases of Native Americans with TB from 1999 to 2019. This study's target population was adult Native Americans with TB living in the Northern Plains. The data were complete except for the genotype data due to changes in testing and access to genetic testing conducted by the CDC. The data were collected by the South Dakota State Health Department, and included the contact study data, hospital data, CDC reportable data, and information that local health departments provided.

## **Descriptive Statistics**

The sample size was 145 cases from 1999–2019, consisting of 69 males and 76 females (47.6% and 52.6%, respectively; see Table 1). Age was considered to be a

potential confounder and was included in the analyses. The ages ranged from 1 year to 88 years, with 110 cases out of 145 having ages ranging between 40 and 75 years (75.9%). The other ages were 1–18 years (11.0%) and >75 years (13.1%; see Table 2). The sample included 52 cases other than pulmonary TB infections, and 93 had active pulmonary TB (35.9% and 64.1%, respectively). Most of the sample population lived within reservation lands (76%); the data also showed that 127 cases (87.6%) were not seeking employment, and 14 TB patients (9.7%) stated they were homeless. The number of TB patients who had an issue with substance use was 59 (40.7%).

Table 1 Descriptive Statistics (N = 145)

Variable	Frequency	Percentage
Gender		
Male	69	47.6%
Female	76	52.4%
Age		
1–18 years	16	11.0%
20–29 years	13	9.0%
30–39 years	9	6.2%
40–49 years	22	15.2
50–59 years	28	19.3%
60–75 years	38	26.2%
76+	19	13.1%
Reservation		
Off	111	76.6%
On	34	23.4%
Employment		
Employed/retired	18	12.4%
Not seeking employment	126	87.6%
Homelessness		
Yes	13	9.7%
No	131	90.3%
Substance use		
Substance use	59	40.7%
No substance use	86	59.3%
Tuberculosis		
Acute TB	52	35.9%
Latent TB	93	64.1%

Table 2

Age Frequency Data for Cases With Latent TB Infection and Active TB

Category	Frequency	Percentage	Valid	Cumulative
			percentage	percentage
1–18 years	16	11.0%	11.0%	11.0%
19–29 years	13	9.0%	9.0%	20.0%
30–39 years	9	6.2%	6.2%	26.2%
40–49 years	22	15.2%	15.2%	41.4%
50–59 years	28	19.3%	19.3%	60.7%
60–75 years	38	26.2%	26.2%	86.9%
76+ years	19	13.1%	13.1%	100.0%

## **Study Results**

To test the model fit for my study, I conducted a chi-square test and the Hosmer-Lemeshow test. These results showed the degree to which the model could take each case and put them into the groups identified on the dependent variable being used. The chi-square was conducted to identify an association between dependent variables (LTBI and active TB disease) and the independent variables: homelessness, substance use, occupation, and living on reservation. The null hypothesis in Research Question 1 was that there is no association between those with active TB and the independent variables of homelessness, occupation, substance use, and living on a reservation. No expected cells had fewer than five samples during this test.

The chi-square results showed that there were statistically significant associations at 5% significance level between active TB (11.593, df = 1, p = <.001; see Table 3), homelessness (213.572, df = 2, p = <.001; see Table 3), substance use (73.090, df = 2, p = <.001; see Table 3), occupation (312.448, df = 5, p = <.001; see Table 3), and living on reservation (40.890, df = 1, p = <.001; see Table 3). This meant that active TB,

homelessness, substance use, occupation, and living on the reservation were reliant on each other. Therefore, I accepted the null hypothesis.

Table 3

Chi-Square Analysis for Model Fit Using Dependent Active TB

Category	Acute TB	Homelessness	Substance	Occupation	Reservation
	infection		use		
Chi-square	11.593	213.572	73.090	312.448	40.890
df	1	2	2	5	1
Asymp. sig.	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001

The null hypothesis in Research Question 2 was there is no relationship between those with latent TB and the independent variables homelessness, occupation, substance use, and living on a reservation. No expected cells had fewer than five samples during this test. The chi-square results showed that there was a statistically significant relationship at 5% significance level between latent TB (5.800, df = 1, p = <.016; see Table 4), homelessness (213.572, df = 2, p = <.001; see Table 4), substance use (73.090, df = 2, p = <.001; see Table 4), occupation (312.448, df = 5, p = <.001; see Table 4), and living on reservation (40.890, df = 1, p = <.001; see Table 4). This meant that active TB, homelessness, substance use, occupation, and living on the reservation were reliant on each other. Therefore, I accepted the null hypothesis.

Table 4

Chi-Square Analysis for Model Fit Using Dependent Latent TB

Category	Latent TB	Homelessness	Substance	Occupation	Reservation
	infection		use		
Chi-square	5.800	213.572	73.090	312.448	40.890
df	1	2	2	5	1
Asymp. sig.	<.016	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001

Although the results showed that there was a statistically significant association with active TB (p=.016) and a relationship with latent TB (p=.016), the results showed that there may be a slightly stronger association with active TB and the independent variables of homelessness, substance use, occupation and living on a reservation. A Hosmer and Lemeshow test was conducted for model fit for active TB infections compared to a null model without independent variables (chi-square = 10.752, df=8; p=.216), Omnibus tests of Model Coefficients (Model [chi-square = 14.018, df=5, p=.015]), which was statistically significant. When the Hosmer and Lemeshow test was conducted for LTBI with full predictor with that of a null model without any other predictors showed (chi-square = 14.651, df=8; p=.066); the likehood ratio chi-square Omnibus tests of Model Coefficients (chi-square = 18.766, df=5, p=.002). The Hosmer and Lemeshow test results were conducted for the active TB and LTBI models (p=.216; p=.066, respectively). Both were not statistically significant, which showed a good fit.

The Chi-square was significant for both active TB and Latent TB to the alternate model out performs the null model. The results may show that there is an increase multicollinearity and the possibility of a type II error, meaning that there could be a false

rejection of the null hypothesis. The overall model fit for both models for the dependent variable compared to the null model was good.

For analysis of the research questions, a binary logistics regression was conducted. There were three assumptions: independence of errors, linearity in logit for continuous independent variables, and absence of multicollinearity (see Stoltzfus, 2011). The first assumption used was independence of errors; this was met because the dependent variables for this study were active TB and LTBI. The dependent variables were categorical with two levels (yes/no), and there were no duplicate responses. The second assumption was related to independent variables that must be separate and independent of each other. This assumption was met because TB data from each of the health departments was not influenced or affected by the other public health departments that were also reporting TB data to the South Dakota Department of Health. Binary logistic regression assumes very little or no multicollinearity between any continuous independent variable (Yasin, 2017). The continuous variables that would be colinear were not met because all the independent variables used in this study were nonlinear, so the chances of multicollinearity were decreased and would not skew the results.

## **Research Question 1 Results**

Age, a confounder was found to have a statistically significant (p=.049, see Table 5) impact on the risks of active TB. These results showed that only those aged 1-18 years (OR=9.840, 95%CI [1.673, 57.892], p=.011, see Table 5) and aged 19-29 years (OR=16.256, 95%CI [1.669, 158.369], p=.016, see Table 5) were statistically significantly more likely to have active TB by 9.840 and .16.256 times (respectively).

Table 5

Binary Logistic Regression for the Relationship Between Dependent Variable Active Tuberculosis and Independent Predictors

					EXP(B)
Variable	В	SE	Wald	df	Sig. Exp(B) Lower Upper
Homelessness	.554	.757	.535	1	.464 .575 .130 2.535
Reservation	022	.450	.002	1	.961 .978 .405 2.364
Substance use	217	.408	.284	1	.594 .805 .362 1.789
Not seeking					
employment	062	.637	.009	1	.923 .940 .270 3.277
Age (years)			12.624	6	.049
Age 1 (1–18)	2.286	.904	6.395	1	.011 9.840 1.673 57.892
Age 2 (19–29)	2.788	1.161	5.764	1	.016 16.256 1.669 158.369
Age 3 (30–39)	1.565	.964	2.637	1	.104 4.782 .723 31.613
Age 4 (40–49)	.304	.637	.227	1	.634 1.355 .389 4.718
Age 5 (50–59)	1.066	.623	2.928	1	.087 2.903 .856 9.839
Age 6 (60–75)	.632	.587	1.159	1	.282 1.881 .596 5.942
Gender	.025	.385	.004	1	.949 1.025 .482 2.178
Constant	.326	.849	.144	1	.704 1.380

These results showed that there was some effect by the independent variables on active TB, but they were not statistically significant, ages 1-18 years (p=.006, see Table 6), and aged 19-29 years (p=.001, see Table 6) were statistically significantly making the finding multicollinearity increasing chance of Type II error, I accepted the null hypothesis. The study's findings showed there was no significant association between active TB infections, and the predictor variables: employment, substance abuse,

homelessness, and living on reservation land among the Native American population in the Northern Plains in the United States.

# **Research Question 2 Results**

The binary logistic regression was used to analyze the relationship, between the dependent variable latent TB diagnosis, and independent variables: not seeking employment (p= .908, see Table 6); substance use (p=.337, see Table 6); reservation (p=.952, see Table 6); homelessness (p= .386, see Table 6) that showed the relationships were not statistically significant.

Table 6

Binary Logistic Regression for the Relationship Between Dependent Variable Latent Tuberculosis Infection (LTBI) and Independent Predictors

					EXP(B)			
Variable	В	SE	Wald	df	Sig.	Exp(B) Low	er Uppei	
Homelessness	660	.761	.751	1	.386	1.934 .435	8.594	
Reservation	027	.452	.004	1	.952	.973 .401	2.361	
Substance use	.392	.409	.922	1	.337	1.481 .664	3.299	
Not seeking								
employment	074	.646	.013	1	.908	.928 .261	3.295	
Age (years)	_	.911	15.123	6	.019			
Age 1 (1–18)	2.491	1.167	7.481	1	.006	.083 .014	.494	
Age 2 (19–29)	-	.974	6.502	1	.001	.051 .005	.502	
Age 3 (30–39)	2.977	.654	3.297	1	.069	.171 .025	1.151	
Age 4 (40–49)	-	.624	.056	1	.812	.856 .238	3.085	
Age 5 (50–59)	1.769	.598	2.472	1	.116	.375 .110	1.274	
Age 6 (60–75)	155	.385	1.490	1	.222	.482 .149	1.556	
Gender	981							
	730		.017	1	.896	1.052 .495	2.236	
	.050							
Constant	326	.857	.145	1	.704	.722		

Age a confounder, was found to have a statistically significant (p=.019, see Table 6) impact on the risks of latent TB. Within these results that only those aged 1-18 years (OR=.083, 95%CI [.014, .494], p=.006, see Table 6), and aged 19-29 years (OR=.051, 95%CI [.005, .502], p=.001, see Table 6) were statistically significantly less likely to have latent TB.

So, I concluded that the independent variables had no significant effect on the odds of developing latent TB in this population. Therefore, the I accepted the null

hypothesis as the study identified no significant relationship between Latent TB Infections, and the socioeconomic, homelessness, substance use, and reservation living conditions in the Native American population in the Northern Plains of the United States.

#### **Summary**

The binary logistic regression results on RQ1 regarding active TB infection, and independent variables: homelessness, not seeking employment, substance abuse, and rural/urban were not statistically significant. So, I failed to reject the null hypothesis.

These findings mean there is no statistically significant association between a diagnosis of active TB, and where they live, whether rural or urban, their occupation, homelessness, or substance use.

Regarding the binary logistic regression analysis conducted on latent TB infections, and independent variables: homelessness, not seeking employment, substance abuse, and reservation, found that there was no statistical significance. This finding meant accepting the null hypothesis that there is no relationship between the dependent variable, and the predictors identified, but age was statistically significant, age was significant for both active TB and Latent TB increase the odd of a Type II error when accepting the null hypothesis.

#### Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations

This chapter includes a discussion of the findings, limitations, and implications. The purpose of this quantitative study was to examine the association between active and latent TB status, socioeconomic status, homelessness, multigenerational households, substance abuse, and place of residence of Native Americans living in urban areas or on reservations in the Northern Plains. Although studies had been conducted regarding TB in the Native American population, there was a paucity of studies examining the effects of social and environmental conditions on the transmission and development of TB. Current findings showed a failure to reject the null hypotheses in RQ1 and RQ2. There was no relationship between a diagnosis of active or latent TB infection and the predictor variables.

#### **Interpretation of Findings**

The results of the first RQ did not show a statistically significant result, and the I accepted the null hypothesis; this also occurred with the second RQ. I found that age which was not a variable in RQ but was statistically significant for both RQ questions. This made the results multicollinearity increasing chance of Type II error. The reviewed literature in Chapter 2 suggested predictor variables such as homelessness, substance use, poverty, and multigenerational housing may increase the chances of contracting active TB or progressing from LTBI to active disease. Literature from previous studies showed that homelessness, poverty, and crowded households were the most significant variables in the transmission and progression from LTBI to active disease. Godwin et al. (2017) identified that alcohol or illicit drug use, homelessness, and those with mental illness had

a higher rate of TB transmission. Lee et al. (2021) found that "people of color, notably Blacks and Native Americans, are shown to be overrepresented in the homeless populations of each community, in part because of the barriers they face to housing, and economic mobility." (p. 3). Although there were data showing that Native Americans have high rates of TB, low income, lack of housing, and violence, there are few studies on how these social issues affect the TB cases in that population. There were issues with obtaining homelessness data depending on how the question was posed, or interpreted. Hannah et al. (2017) identified that recent homelessness might not be reported, and a history of homelessness may not show how long individuals were homeless; this could have skewed the responses from the subjects.

In the current study, another variable addressed was poverty (i.e., income and employment). The level of those not seeking employment was 86.9%; however, as noted in the results (p = .927, p = .908), this did not affect the diagnosis of TB. The data did not indicate any other sources of income and only provided employment information. The literature showed that poverty is one of the leading conditions that leads to social and environmental conditions that increase the risk of contracting TB. Living in poverty is considered high risk for developing TB (Bread for the World, 2018). Bloss et al. (2011) identified that AI/ANs were more likely than other groups of people to suffer from homelessness, use alcohol, and live-in communities, or counties that have a more significant proportion of those living in poverty, and without health care insurance.

In a review of recent literature, I found that substance use was a significant issue, and risk for contracting TB (TB alert, n.d), which was not confirmed in the current study

because the association, or relationship between substance abuse, and active TB, and LTBI was not statistically significant (p = .594, p = .337, respectively). The results also showed that nearly one third of the respondents reported substance use, leaving two thirds who reported no substance use. The literature indicated that Native Americans have a high rate of substance use, and substance use is also a considerable risk for TB transmission, and progress to active disease. Volkman et al. (2016) showed that progression from LTBI to active disease is accelerated by homelessness, and alcohol use.

The data used for the variable reservation were zip codes. I used them to determine whether the community where individuals lived was on, or off the reservation. The findings showed that 76% of those with TB lived on lands identified as Native American reservations. Lack of housing increases living with multiple families in the same household, and cohabitation with many people puts them at risk of contracting, transmitting, and progressing to TB disease, as outlined by de Castro et al. (2018) who found that the indigenous populations in the Amazon with high rates of TB were affected by poor housing, poor health care, food inequities, and poverty.

#### **Limitations of the Study**

This study was conducted using data from a reliable source, and rigorous statistical analysis to test the hypothesis for this study. Very few cases were investigated directly by the state health department, but they were reported to their staff by public health programs, hospitals, and county health departments, all using their system of collecting and reporting TB data. Because I was able to obtain data from only one source, this meant that all the predictor variables reported could have been affected by various

reporting issues. There was enough information to conduct the study, but not to definitively confirm the strength of the effect of the independent variables on each case of active, or latent TB.

In the respondents' perceptions regarding the data, 89.6% stated they were not seeking employment simultaneously, and 90% denied being homeless. The high percentage of unemployment but low percentage of homelessness could mean that many respondents were living in multigenerational households, and did not consider themselves homeless. These findings may be why homelessness in the study was not associated with active TB and LTBI (p = .464, p = .386, respectively). Secondary data collected from the South Dakota Department of Health contained age, gender, active pulmonary disease, latent disease other than pulmonary, cavitary lesions, zip codes, homelessness, occupation, and substance use in each case. Secondary data on genotyping and identified clusters were based on spligotypes and mycobacterial interspersed repetitive unit (MIRU) mutations in only 50% of the 145 cases, so I did not use these data in the analysis.

I obtained data on pulmonary TB active and TB found in other parts of the body that were identified as latent because I could not use genotyping. The data obtained represented the sample needed for the TB cases in the Northern Plains among the Native Americans, and the study sample population was 100% of all cases identified in South Dakota. This state had the most TB cases and the largest Native American population in the Northern Plains.

The limitations related to reliability were due to data in this study that were selfreported. The values provided by self-reporting can be prone to errors, misinterpretation of questions, shame, guilt, and data entry mistakes because several people collected the data over the past 20 years. These issues increased the limitation regarding the independent variable data used in this study that were self-reported, such as occupation, homelessness, address zip code, and substance use.

I could not determine whether those who stated they were not homeless were living in a multigenerational home with the data provided. I found the same issue with substance use, the data collection process did not identify whether this was current or prior substance use, which may have influenced the results for this variable. The data also showed that most of the cases identified were not looking for employment. However, because no data were collected on other types of resources, I could not determine whether they had regular income.

Another limitation was having only one source for the data collected. Even though most of the TB cases in the Northern Plains were in South Dakota, and reported to the health department, the data collection did not allow for cross-checking of the self-reported data. The results were not statistically significant, and not generalizable. Several attempts to obtain data from the IHS after IHS IRB approval for data collection were unsuccessful. North Dakota had four cases, but could not conclude that they were Native American, while Iowa and Nebraska refused to provide any data, limiting my ability to cross-check the data. Another variable that needs more investigation is substance use, because of the time between TB exposure and disease development, it would be helpful to ask about historical use, and other environmental conditions accompanying drug, or alcohol use. Multiple health department staff collected the data for this variable, but the

question was inconsistent between the forms used. Different survey tools were used to collect the same demographic data, so the person may not have identified prior drug use. Data only identified substance use or no substance use but did not specify current or historical use.

### Recommendations

Although the current study's findings did not indicate a statistically significant association between active TB infections and LTBI, studies are needed to reveal complex causal effects that impact the TB diagnosis in this population. To answer this question, there needs to be wide-ranging data collection to increase the reliability and validity of the study. Identifying multigenerational households was not possible with the data obtained. There needs to be further research conducted to assess the impact of multigenerational households on the outcome variables.

### **Implications**

I found after a review of the findings there is a need for more investigation into why this population is still affected by TB, substance use, homelessness /multigenerational living, and poverty more than the general population. The manifestation of the social, and environmental risks that increase the odds of a Native American contracting TB, and progressing to a disease state needs further study to determine the causes.

This study's results bring attention to the Native Americans' social/environmental plight leading to improved public health programs and policies. The idea that a population had such high rates of poverty, unemployment, homelessness, substance use,

mental illness, and poor health is the antithesis of the current public health goals in the United States of equality and equity. An important public health goal is to improve the health conditions in this population, and to decrease the cases and deaths from tuberculosis. This study highlights that there must be a cohesive system/process when collecting infectious disease data and measuring the effects of TB policies and programming among this population.

These findings have positive implications for social change. The results of this study could form changes that improve the data collection, staff training, and reporting of TB cases among the Native American populations leading to improved TB intelligence systems that could inform programming to decrease TB cases found in these populations. This would mean changes to processes, and improved collaboration, and record-keeping between local, state, and federal agencies that work in this community. Successful implementation of these strategies would allow public health, and social programs to work together to address all aspects of TB patients' environment and needs.

### **Conclusions**

Overall findings supported an inability to reject the study's null hypotheses.

Although results were not statistically significant between active, and latent TB infection, and the independent variables poverty, homelessness, substance use, and residence, only one variable, age was statistically significant. Nevertheless, age was not one of the identified independent variables in the hypotheses, but was included in the analyses to account for potential confounding effects. Thus, further investigations including other potential confounders are needed to ascertain their influence on the outcome of interest.

The risk of tuberculosis, and other infectious diseases, substance use, homelessness, mental illness, and poverty has been high in the Native American population based on the data collected by the CDC each year. This group continues to have higher rates than most of the other ethnic groups (Center for disease control and prevention, 2018; Cormier et al., 2019; O'Leary et al., 2019). Nevertheless, the ability to collect, analyze, and maintain data so that a multidisciplinary system can coordinate services is nonexistent. The lack of a cohesive process means that population health needs assessments remain inadequate, and when public policy, regulations, and funding decisions are made they are not data-driven further increasing the levels of unmet population health needs as they relate to TB. Social change will happen if we apply positive ideals into every step of this process, we must have an unwavering mindset of kindness, unlimited time and unmitigated dignity when dealing with Tuberculosis and the socioeconomic conditions that burdens the Native American population.

### References

- Ackley, S. F., Liu, F., Porco, T. C., & Pepperell, C. S. (2015). Modeling historical tuberculosis epidemics among Canadian first nations: Effects of malnutrition and genetic variation. *Peerj*, *3*, Article e1237. <a href="https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.1237">https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.1237</a>
- Adekoya, N., Truman, B., Landen, M., & Centers for Disease Control and Prevention.
  (2015). Incidence of notifiable diseases among American Indians/Alaska Natives
   United States, 2007-2011. MMWR. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report,
  64(1), 16–19.
- Agarwal, S., Nguyen, T. T., Teeter, D. L., & Graviss, E. A. (2017). Spatial-temporal distribution of genotyped tuberculosis cases in a county with active transmission. BMC Infectious Diseases, 17, 378. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1186/s12879-017-2480z">https://doi.org/10.1186/s12879-017-2480z</a>
- Alcohol use. (2020). In *Oxford Dictionary*.

  https://www.lexico.com/en/definition/alcohol\_abuse
- Alexopoulos, E. C. (2010). Introduction to multivariate regression analysis. *Hippokratia*, *14(Suppl 1)*, 23–28. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3049417/
- Analytics Vidhya. (2016). *Bayesian statistics explained to beginners in simple English*.

  <a href="https://www.analyticsvidhya.com/blog/2016/06/bayesian-statistics-beginners-simple-english/">https://www.analyticsvidhya.com/blog/2016/06/bayesian-statistics-beginners-simple-english/</a>
- Bamrah, S., Yelk Woodruff, R. S., Powell, K., Ghosh, S., Kammerer, M. B., & Haddad,
  M. B. (2013). Tuberculosis among the homeless, United States, 1994-2010.
  Internal Journal of Tuberculosis Lung Disease, 17(11), 1414–1419.
  https://doi.org/10.5588/ijtld.13.0270

- Bey, G. S., Jesdale, B., Forrester, S., Person, S. D., & Kiefe, C. (2019). Intersectional effects of racial and gender discrimination on cardiovascular health vary among black and white women and men in the CARDIA study. *SSM Population Health*, 8, 100446. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssmph.2019.100446">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssmph.2019.100446</a>
- Blanco-Guillot, F., Castañeda-Cediel, M. L., Cruz-Hervert, P., Ferreyra-Reyes, L., Delgado-Sánchez, G., Ferreira-Guerrero, E., Montero-Campos, R., Bobadilla-del-Valle, M., Martínez-Gamboa, R. A., Torres-González, P., Téllez-Vazquez, N., Canizales-Quintero, S., Yanes-Lane, M., Mongua-Rodríguez, N., Ponce-de-León, A., Sifuentes-Osornio, J. & Garcia-Garcia, L. (2018). Genotyping and spatial analysis of pulmonary tuberculosis and diabetes cases in the state of Veracruz, Mexico. *PLOS ONE*, 13(3), Article e0193911.
  https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0193911
- Bloss, E., Holtz, T. H., Jereb, J., Redd, J. T., Podewils, L. J., Cheek, J. E., & McCray, E. (2011). Tuberculosis in indigenous peoples in the US, 2003-2008. *Public Health Reports (Washington, D.C.: 1974)*, *126*(5), 677–689. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/003335491112600510">https://doi.org/10.1177/003335491112600510</a>
- Bread for the World. (2018). Fact sheet: Hunger and poverty in the Indigenous community. <a href="https://www.bread.org/article/fact-sheet-hunger-and-poverty-in-the-indigenous-community/">https://www.bread.org/article/fact-sheet-hunger-and-poverty-in-the-indigenous-community/</a>
- Brooks-Pollock, E., Cohen, T., & Murray, M. (2010). The impact of realistic age structure in simple models of Tuberculosis transmission. *PLOS ONE*, *5*(1), *Article e8479*. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0008479

- Brown, A., Bryant, J. M., Einer-Jensen, K., Holdstock, J., Houniet, D. T., Chan, J. S. M.,
  Depledge, D. P., Nikolayevskyy, V., Broda, A., Stone, M. J., Christiansen, M. T.,
  Williams, R., McAndrew, M. B., Tutill, H., Brown, J., Melzer, M., Rosmarin, C.,
  McHugh, T. D., Shorten, ... Breuer, J. (2015). Rapid whole-genome sequencing
  of Mycobacteruim tuberculosis isolates directly from clinical samples. *Journal Clinical Microbiology*, 53, 2230–2237. https://doi.org/10.1128/JCM.00486-15
- Brown, R. A., Dickerson, D. L., & D'Amico, E. J. (2016). Cultural identity among urban American Indian/Alaska Native youth: Implications for alcohol and drug use.

  \*Prevention Science\*, 17(7), 852–861. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11121-016-0680-1
- Burduli, E., Skalisky, J., Hirchak, K., Orr, M. F., Foote, A., Granbois, A., Ries, R., Roll, J. M., Buchwald, D., McDonell, M. G. McPherson, S. M. (2018). Contingency management intervention targeting co-addiction of alcohol and drugs among American Indian adults: Design, methodology, and baseline data. *Clinical Trials*, 15(6), 587–599. https://doi.org/10.1177/1740774518796151
- Burzynski, J. (2017). The Use of Modeling to Compare Tuberculosis Dynamics in Four US States. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*, 196(8), 953-954.
  - https://scholar.google.com/scholar?q=Burzynski,+2017+Tuberculosis&hl=en&as \_sdt=0&as\_vis=1&oi=scholart
- Burnette, C. E., & Figley, C. R. (2017). Historical oppression, resilience, and transcendence: Can a holistic framework help explain violence experienced by Indigenous people? *Social Work*, *62(1)*, 37–44.

# https://doi.org/10.1093/sw/sww065

- CDC (2005). Guidelines for the Investigation of Contacts of Persons with Infectious

  Tuberculosis. *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report 54(RR15);1-37*. Retrieved

  from https://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/preview/mmwrhtml/rr5415a1.htm#top
- CDC (2012). CDC Tuberculosis Genotyping Laboratory Procedures Science Behind TB Genotyping.
  - https://www.cdc.gov/tb/programs/genotyping/chap3/3\_cdclab\_1science.htm
- CDC Health Disparities & Inequalities Report United States, (2013), Morbidity & Mortality Weekly Report (MMWR) Supplement, November 22, 2013, Vol.62, Supplement No. 3, pg.1-187
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2017a). *Data and statistics*. https://www.cdc.gov/tb/statistics/default.htm
- Centis, R., D'Ambrosio, L., Zumla, A. & Migliori, G. B. (2017). Shifting from tuberculosis control to elimination: Where are we? What are the variables and limitations? Is it achievable? *International journal of infectious disease*. *Volume* 56, P30-33. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijid.2016.11.416
- CDC Prioritizing Tuberculosis genotype clusters for Further Investigation and Public Health Action. Atlanta, GA: US Department of Health and Human Services, CDC; (2017b). https://www.cdc.gov/tb/programs/genotyping/default.htm
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2018). Reported Tuberculosis in the United States, 2018. https://www.cdc.gov/tb/statistics/reports/2018/national\_data.htm
- Chao, W. C., Chuang, P. C., Wu, D. H., Wu, C. L., Liu, P. Y., Shieh, C. C., & Jou, R.

- (2017). Using genotyping to delineate tuberculosis transmission in long-term care facilities: single facility 4-year experience. *BMC Infectious Diseases*, 17, 421. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12879-017-2526-2
- Chartier, K. G., Vaeth, P. A.C., & Caetano, R. (2013). Focus on: Ethnicity and the social and health harms from drinking. *Alcohol Research: Current Reviews*, *35*(2), 229–237. https://psycnet.apa.org/record/2014-07285-014
- Cheek, J. E., Holman, R. C., Redd, J. T., Haberling, D., & Hennessy, T. W. (2014).

  Infectious Disease Mortality Among American Indians and Alaska Natives, 1999-2009. *American Journal of Public Health*, (S3), S446-52.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2013.301721">https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2013.301721</a>
- Cloos, P. (2015). The Racialization of US Public Health: A Paradox of the Modern State.

  \*Cultural Studies ← Critical Methodologies, 15(5), 379–386.

  https://doi.org/10.1177/1532708615611719
- Colijn, C., & Cohen, T. (2016). Whole-genome sequencing of Mycobacterium tuberculosis for rapid diagnostics and beyond. *The Lancet. Respiratory Medicine*, 4(1), 6–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2213-2600(15)00510-X
- Cormier, M., Schwartzman, K., N'Diaye, D. S., Boone, C. E., dos Santos, A. M., Gaspar, J., Cazabon, D., Ghiasi, M., Kahn, R., Uppal, A., Morris, M., & Oxlade, O. (2019). Proximate determinants of tuberculosis in Indigenous peoples worldwide: a systematic review. *The Lancet Global Health*, 7(1), e68–e80. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/S2214-109X(18)30435-2">https://doi.org/10.1016/S2214-109X(18)30435-2</a>
- Communicable Disease Intelligence Quarterly Report. (2017). National position

- statement for the management of latent tuberculosis infection. Stock D1; National Tuberculosis Advisory Committee. *Sep 1;41(3)*: E204-E208.
- Conner, T., Hicklin Fryar, A. & Johnson, T. (2017). Information versus ideology: Shaping attitudes towards Native American policy. *The Social Science Journal, Volume* 54, Issue 1, March 2017, Pages 56-66
- Creswell, J. W. (2014). Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches (4th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage
- Cunningham, J. K., Solomon, T. A., & Muramoto, M. L. (2016). Alcohol use among

  Native Americans compared to whites: Examining the veracity of the 'Native

  American elevated alcohol consumption' belief. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*,

  160, 65–75. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2015.12.015
- de Castro, D.B., de Seixas Maciel, E.M.G., Sadahiro, M., Costa Pinto, R., de

  Albuquerque, B. C. & Ueleres Braga, J. Tuberculosis incidence inequalities and
  its social determinants in Manaus from 2007 to 2016. *International Journal for*Equity in Health volume 17, Article number: 187 (2018).

  https://doi.org/10.1186/s12939-018-0900-3
- Dictionary (2020a). Homelessness. In dictionary.com. https://www.dictionary.com/browse/homelessness?s=t
- Dictionary (2020b). Reservation. In dictionary.com.

  <a href="https://www.dictionary.com/browse/reservation">https://www.dictionary.com/browse/reservation</a>
- Dictionary (2020c). Socioeconomic status. In dictionary.com. https://www.dictionary.com/browse/socioeconomic-status

- Dictionary (2020d). Substance use. In dictionary.com. https://www.dictionary.com/browse/substance-abuse
- Dictionary (2020e). Urban area. In dictionary.com. https://www.dictionary.com/browse/urban-area
- Duwe, E. A. G., Petterson, S., Gibbons, C., & Bazemore, A. (2014). Ecology of health care: the need to address low utilization in American Indians/Alaska Natives.

  \*American Family Physician, 89(3), 217–218.

  https://www.aafp.org/pubs/afp/issues/2014/0201/p217.html
- Evans, C. R. (2020). Modeling the intersectionality of processes in the social production of health Inequalities. *Social Science & Medicine. Volume 226*, *April 2019*, Pages 249-253 <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2019.01.017">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2019.01.017</a>
- Evans, C.R., Leckie, G. and Merlo, J. (2019). Multilevel versus single-level regression for the analysis of multilevel information: The case of quantitative intersectional analysis. *Social Science & Medicine. Volume 245, January 2020, 112499*https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2019.112499
- Evans, C.R., Williams, D. R., Onnela, J.P., & Subramanian, S.V. (2018). A multilevel approach to modeling health inequalities at the intersection of multiple social identities. *Social Science & Medicine*. 2018 Apr;203: 64-73. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2017.11.011
- Frankfort-Nachmias, C. & Leon-Guerrero, A. (2015). Social statistics for a diverse society (7th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Fox, G. J., Nhung, N. V., Sy, D. N., D., Hoa, N. L. P., Anh, L. T. N., Anh, N. T., Hoa. N.

- B., Nguyen H. Dung, N. H., Tran N. Buu, T. N., Loi, N. T., Nhung. L. T., Hung, N. V. Lieu, P. T., Cuong, N. K., Cuong, P. D., Bestrashniy, J., Britton, W. J. & Marks, G. B. (2018). Household-Contact Investigation for Detection of Tuberculosis in Vietnam. *The new England journal of medicine*. 2018; vol. 378 no. 3:221-229. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1700209
- Fretts, A. M., Huber, C., Best, L. G., O'Leary, M., LeBeau, L., Howard, B. V., Siscovick,
  D. S. & Beresford, S. A. (2018). Availability and Cost of Healthy Foods in a
  Large American Indian Community in the North-Central United States.
  Preventing Chronic Disease, 15, 1–5. https://doi.org/10.5888/pcd15.170302
- Gilchrist, C. A., Turner, S. D., Riley, Petri, W. A. & Hewlett, E. L. (2015). Whole-Genome Sequencing in outbreak Analysis. *Clinical Microbiology Reviews*. *July2015. Volume 28, number 3.* https://dio:10.1128/CMR.00075-13
- Gkika, E., Psaroulaki, A., Tselentis, Y., Angelakis, E., & Kouikoglou, V. S. (2018). Can point of-care testing shorten hospitalization length of stay? An exploratory investigation of infectious agents using regression modelling. *Health Informatics Journal*. https://doi.org/10.1177/1460458218796612
- Gkiouleka, A., Huijts, T., Beckfield, J., & Bambra, C. (2018). Understanding the micro and macro politics of health: Inequalities, intersectionality & institutions A research agenda. *Social Science & Medicine*, 200, 92–98. <a href="https://doiorg.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2018.01.025">https://doiorg.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2018.01.025</a>
- Glynn, J.R., Guerra-Assunção, J.A., Houben, R.M.G.J., Sichali, L., Mzembe, T.,

  Mwaungulu, L.K., Nimrod Mwaungulu, J., McNerney, R., Khan, P., Parkhill, J.,

Crampin, A. C. & Clark, T., G. (2015). Whole Genome Sequencing Shows a Low Proportion of Tuberculosis Disease Is Attributable to Known Close Contacts in Rural Malawi. *PLoS ONE 10*(7): e0132840. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0132840

- Grant, C. & Osanloo, A. (2014). Understanding, selecting, and integrating a Theoretical Framework in Dissertation Research: Creating the Blueprint for our "House".

  \*\*Administrative issue Journal: connecting education, practice, and research. 4(2). https://doi:10.5929/2014.4.2.9
- Great Plains Area. (2020). *In Indian Health Service. Gov.* https://www.ihs.gov/greatplains/
- Godwin, M., Wortham, J. M., Haddad, M. B. & Powell, K. M. (2017). Tuberculosis

  Outbreaks in the United States, 2009-2015. *Public Health Reports 2017, Vol.*132(2) 157-163. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/0033354916688270">https://doi.org/10.1177/0033354916688270</a>
- Gounder, P. P., Holman, R. C., Seeman, S. M., Rarig, A. J., McEwen, M., Steiner, C. A.,
  Bartholomew, M. L. & Hennessy, T. W. (2016). Infectious Disease
  Hospitalizations Among American Indian/Alaska Native and Non-American
  Indian/Alaska Native Persons in Alaska, 2010-2011. *Public Health Reports*132(1), 65–75. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/0033354916679807">https://doi.org/10.1177/0033354916679807</a>
- Guirado, E., Mbawuike, U., Keiser T. L., Arcos, J., Azad, A. K., Wang, S. H. & Schlesinger, L. S. (2015). Characterization of host and microbial determinants in individuals with latent tuberculosis infection using a human granuloma model.
  mBio. 2015 Feb 17;6(1). https://doi.org/10.1128/mBio.02537-14

- Gurjav, U., Outhred, A.C., Jelfs, P., McCallum, N., Wang, Q., Hill-Cawthorne, G.A., Marais, B.J & Sintchenko, V. (2016). Whole Genome Sequencing Demonstrates Limited Transmission within Identified Mycobacterium tuberculosis Clusters in New South Wales, Australia. *PLoS ONE 11(10): e0163612*. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0163612
- Guthrie, J. L., Pizzi, A. D., Roth, D., Kong, C., Jorgensen, D., Rodrigues, M., Tang, P.,
  Cook, V. J., Johnston, J. & Gardy, J. L. (2018). Genotyping and Whole-Genome
  Sequencing to Identify Tuberculosis Transmission to Pediatric Patients in British
  Columbia, Canada, 2005-2014. *Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 218(7), 1155–1163. https://doi.org/10.1093/infdis/jiy278
- Guzzetta, G., Ajelli, M., Yang, Z., Merler, S., Furlanello, C. & Kirschner, D. (2011).

  Modeling socio-demography to capture tuberculosis transmission dynamic in a low burden setting. *Tuberculosis Week*. https://dio.org/10.1016/j.jtbi.2011.08.032
- Haddad, M. B., Raz, K. M., Lash, T. L., Hill, A. N., Kammerer, J. S., Winston, C. A.,
  Castro, K. G., Gandhi, N. R. & Navin, T. R. (2018). Simple Estimates for Local
  Prevalence of Latent Tuberculosis Infection, United States, 2011-2015. Emerging
  infectious diseases, 24(10), 1930–1933. https://doi.org/10.3201/eid2410.180716
- Hannah, H. A., Miramontes, R., & Gandhi, N. R. (2017). Sociodemographic and Clinical Risk Factors Associated with Tuberculosis Mortality in the United States, 2009-2013. *Public Health Reports, 132(3),* 366–375. https://doi.org/10.1177/0033354917698117
- Hamblion, H. L., Le Menach, A., Anderson, L. F., Lalor, M. K., Brown, T., Abubakar, I.,

- Anderson, C., Maguire, H., & Anderson, S. R. (2016). Recent TB transmission, clustering, and predictors of large clusters in London, 2010–2012: results from first 3 years of universal MIRU-VNTR strain typing. *BMJ Journal. Thorax* 2016;71:749-756. https://doi.org/10.1136/thoraxjnl-2014-206608
- Hatherall, H. A., Colijn. C., Stagg, H., Jackson, C., Winter, J.R., & Abubakar, I. (2016).

  Interpreting whole genome sequencing for investigating tuberculosis transmission: a systematic review. *BMC Medicine*, [s. l.], v. 14, p. 21. https://dio.org/10.1186/s12916-016-0566-x
- Holm, J. E., Vogeltanz-Holm, N., Poltavski, D., & McDonald, L. (2010). Assessing health status, behavioral risks, and health disparities in American Indians living on the northern plains of the US. *Public Health Reports*, 125(1), 68-78.

  <a href="https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/pdf/10.1177/003335491012500110">https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/pdf/10.1177/003335491012500110</a>
- Holman, R. C., Folkema, A. M., Singleton, R.J., Redd, J. T., Christensen, K. Y., Steiner, C. A., Schonberger, L. B., Hennessy, T. W. & Cheek, J. E. (2011). Disparities in Infectious Disease Hospitalizations for American Indian/ Alaska Native People.
  Public Health Reports, (4), 508. <a href="https://search-ebscohost-com.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/login.aspx?direct=true&db=edsovi&AN=edsovi.001">https://search-ebscohost-com.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/login.aspx?direct=true&db=edsovi&AN=edsovi.001</a>
  23991.201107000.00007&site=eds-live&scope=site
- Horton, K. C., Sumner, T., Houben, R., Corbett, E., and White, R. G., (2018). A Bayesian Approach to Understanding Sex Differences in Tuberculosis Disease Burden.

  \*American Journal of Epidemiology, June 27, 2018. Vol. 187, No. 11.

  https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwy131

- Hunter, R. L., (2016). Tuberculosis as a three-act play: A new paradigm for the pathogenesis of pulmonary tuberculosis. *Sciencedirect- tuberculosis. Volume 97, March 2016*, Pages 8-17.
  - https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1472979215301402
- Huyser, K. R., Angel, R. J., Beals, J., Cox, J. H., Hummer, R. A., Sakamoto, A., &
  Manson, S.M. (2018). Reservation Lands as a Protective Social Factor: An
  Analysis of Psychological Distress among Two American Indian Tribes. *Socius*,
  4. https://doi.org/10.1177/2378023118807022
- Indian Health Services (2018). Indian Health Disparities.

  www.ihs.gov/newsroom/factsheets/disparities/
- IHS. (n.d.). Resource and Patient Management System (RPMS).

  https://www.ihs.gov/RPMS/
- Interrante, J. D., Haddad, M. B., Kim, L., & Gandhi, N. R. (2015). Exogenous

  Reinfection as a Cause of Late Recurrent Tuberculosis in the United States.

  Annals of the American Thoracic Society, 12(11), 1619–1626.

  <a href="http://doi.org/10.1513/AnnalsATS.201507-429OC">http://doi.org/10.1513/AnnalsATS.201507-429OC</a>
- Kato-Maeda, M., Metcalfe, J. Z. & Flores, L. (2011). Genotyping of Mycobacterium tuberculosis: application in epidemiologic studies. Future *Microbiology*. 2011 *February*; 6(2): 203–216. <a href="https://doi.org/10.2217/fmb.10.165">https://doi.org/10.2217/fmb.10.165</a>
- Kawachi, I., & Subramanian, S. V. (2018). Social epidemiology for the 21st century.

  Social Science & Medicine, 196, 240–245.

  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2017.10.034

- Krieger N. & Gruskin, S. (2001). Frameworks matter: ecosocial and health and human rights perspectives on disparities in women's health--the case of tuberculosis.

  \*Journal American Medicine Women's Association. 2001 Fall;56(4):137-42.

  https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/11759780/
- Krieger, N. (2012). Methods for the Scientific Study of Discrimination and Health: An Ecosocial Approach. American *Journal of Public Health*, *102*(5), 936–945. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2011.300544
- Krieger N. (2014). Discrimination and Health Inequities. International *Journal of Health Services*, vol.44, 4: pp. 643-710.
- Kong, J., Roh, S., Easton, S. D., Lee, Y.-S., & Lawler, M. J. (2018). A History of Childhood Maltreatment and Intimate Partner Violence Victimization Among Native American Adults. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 33(18), 2826–2848. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260516632353">https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260516632353</a>
- Lawrence, R. J., Forbat, J. Zufferey, J. Rethinking conceptual frameworks and models of health and natural environments. *Health (London)*. 2019 Mar;23(2):158-179. https://doi.org/10.1177/1363459318785717
- Lee, B. A., Shinn, M., & Culhane, D. P. (2021). Homelessness as a Moving Target. *The ANNALS of the American Academy of Political and Social Science*, 693(1), 8–26. https://doi.org/10.1177/0002716221997038
- Lee, R. S. & Behr, M. A. (2016). The implications of whole-genome sequencing in the control of tuberculosis. *Therapeutic Advances in Infectious Diseases*. *3*(2) 47-62. https://dio.org/10.1177/2049936115624630

- Leston, J., Crisp, C., Lee, C. & Rink, E. (2019). An interview project with native

  American people: a community-based study to identify actionable steps to reduce health disparities. *Public Health*, In press, corrected proof, Available online 12

  February 2019
- Lindenau, J. D., Salzano, F. M., Hurtado, A. M., Hill, K. R. & Hutz, M. H. (2016).

  Researchers at Federal University Target Tuberculosis (The role of variants from the innate immune system genes in tuberculosis and skin test response in a Native American population). *TB & Outbreaks Week, [s. l.], 2016.*https://dio.org/10.1016/j.humimm.2016.06.017
- LoBue, P. A., & Mermin, J. H. (2017). Latent tuberculosis infection: the final frontier of tuberculosis elimination in the USA. *The Lancet. Infectious diseases*, 17(10), e327–e333. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1473-3099(17)30248-7
- Lofquist, D. A. (2012). Multigenerational Households: 2009-2011. American Community Survey Briefs. <a href="https://www2.census.gov/library/publications/2012/acs/acsbr11-03.pdf">https://www2.census.gov/library/publications/2012/acs/acsbr11-03.pdf</a>
- Lung, T. P., Guy B Marks, P., Nguyen Viet Nhung, P., Nguyen Thu Anh, P., Nghiem Le, Phuong Hoa, M., Le Thi Ngoc Anh, B., Hoa, N. B., Warwick John Britton, W. J., Jessica Bestrashniy, J., Stephen Jan, S., & Fox, G. J. (2019). Household contact investigation for the detection of tuberculosis in Vietnam: economic evaluation of a cluster-randomized trial. *Lancet Global Health*, (3), e376. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2214-109X(18)30520-5
- MacNeil, A., Glaziou, P., Sismanidis, C., Maloney, S., & Floyd, K. (2017). Global

- Epidemiology of Tuberculosis and Progress Toward Achieving Global Targets 2017. *MMWR Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report 2019;68:*263–266. http://dx.doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm6811a3
- Mahara, G., Yang, K., Chen, S., Wang, W., & Guo, X. (2018). Socio-Economic

  Predictors and Distribution of Tuberculosis Incidence in Beijing, China: A Study

  Using a Combination of Spatial Statistics and GIS Technology. *Medical sciences*(Basel, Switzerland), 6(2), 26. https://doi.org/10.3390/medsci6020026
- Marks, S. M., Woodruff, R. Y., Owusu-Edusei, K., Asay, G. R. B., & Hill, A. N. (2019).
  Estimates of Testing for Latent Tuberculosis Infection and Cost, United States,
  2013. Public Health Reports, 134(5), 522–527.
  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/0033354919862688">https://doi.org/10.1177/0033354919862688</a>
- Matamonasa-Bennett, A. (2017). "The Poison That Ruined the Nation": Native American Men Alcohol, Identity, and Traditional Healing. *American Journal of Men's Health*, 1142–1154. https://doi.org/10.1177/1557988315576937
- Matteelli, A., Sulis, G., Capone, S., D'Amrosio, L., Migliori, G., B. and Getahun, H. (2017). Tuberculosis elimination and the challenges of latent tuberculosis. *Presse Medical 2017; 46*:e13-e21. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lpm.2017.01.015">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lpm.2017.01.015</a>
- McBryde, E. S., Meehan, M. T., Doan, T. N., Ragonnet, R., Marais, B. J., Guernier, V. & Trauer, J. M. (2017). The risk of global epidemic replacement with drug-resistant Mycobacterium tuberculosis strains. *International Journal of Infectious Diseases Volume 56, March 2017*, Pages 14-20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijid.2017.01.031
- McDonald, J.H. 2014. Handbook of Biological Statistics (3rd ed.). Sparky House

- Publishing, Baltimore, Maryland
- McGinnis, M. D., and E. Ostrom. (2014). Social-ecological system framework: initial changes and continuing challenges. *Ecology and Society 19(2):* 30. http://doi.org/10.5751/ES-06387-190230
- Mersha, T., B. and Abebe, T. (2015). Self-reported race/ethnicity in the age of genomic research: its potential impact on understanding health disparities. *Human Genomics20159:1* https://doi.org/10.1186/s40246-014-0023-x
- Miettinen, O. S. (2017) Demography, Epidemiology, and Public Health. *International Encyclopedia of Public Health (Second Edition) 2017*, Pages 223-225 https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-803678-5.00102-8
- Mindra, G., Wortham, J. M., Haddad, M. B., & Powell, K. M. (2017). Tuberculosis

  Outbreaks in the United States, 2009-2015. *Public Health Reports*, 132(2), 157–
  163. https://doi.org/10.1177/0033354916688270
- Mitruka, K., Blake, H., Ricks, P., Miramontes, R., Bamrah, S., Chee, C., & Hickstein, L. (2014). A Tuberculosis Outbreak Fueled by Cross-Border Travel and Illicit Substances: Nevada and Arizona. *Public Health Reports*, *129*(1), 78–85.
- Moonan, P. K., Ghosh, S., Oeltmann, J. E., Kammerer, J. S., Cowan, L. S., & Navin, T.
  R. (2012). Using Genotyping and Geospatial Scanning to Estimate Recent
  Mycobacterium tuberculosis Transmission, United States. *Emerging Infection*Diseases, 18(3), 458–465. https://doi.org/10.3201/eid1803.111107
- Närhi, K., & Matthies, A. L. (2018). The ecosocial approach in social work as a framework for structural social work. *International Social Work*, 61(4), 490–502.

# https://doi.org/10.1177/0020872816644663

- Neely, J. G., Paniello, R. C., Cho Lieu, J. E., Voelker, C. C. J., Phil, D., Grindler, D. J., Sequeira, S. M. & Brian Nussenbaum (2013). Practical Guide to Understanding Multivariable Analyses: Part A. Otolaryngology–Head and Neck Surgery.
  2013;148(2):185-190. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/0194599812462685">https://doi.org/10.1177/0194599812462685</a>
- Nikolayevskyy, V., Kranzer, K., Niemann, S., & Drobniewski, F. (2016). Whole genome sequencing of Mycobacterium tuberculosis for detection of recent transmission and tracing outbreaks: A systematic review. *Tuberculosis*, 98, 77–85. <a href="https://doiorg/10.1016/j.tube.2016.02.009">https://doiorg/10.1016/j.tube.2016.02.009</a>
- Noppert, G. A., Wilson, M. L., Clarke, P., Ye, W., Davidson, P., & Yang, Z. (2017).

  Race and nativity are major determinants of tuberculosis in the US: evidence of health disparities in tuberculosis incidence in Michigan, 2004-2012. *BMC Public Health*, 17(1), 538. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-017-4461-y
- Odani, S., Armour, B. S., Graffunder, C. M., Garrett, B. E., & Agaku, I. T. (2017).

  Prevalence and Disparities in Tobacco Product Use Among American

  Indians/Alaska Natives United States, 2010-2015. MMWR: *Morbidity & Mortality Weekly Report*, 66(50), 1374–1378.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm6650a2">https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm6650a2</a>
- O'Leary, R., McCormack, L. A., Huber, C., Hockett, C. W., Moran, A., & Pesicka, J. (2019). Developing the Tribal Resource Guide and the Poverty and Culture Training: The We RISE (Raising Income, Supporting Education) Study.

  American Indian and Alaska Native *Mental Health Research (Online)*, 26(2),

- 134–150. https://doi.org/10.5820/aian.2602.2019.134
- Ortblad, K. F., Salomon J. A., Till Bärnighausen, T. & Atun, A. (2015). Stopping tuberculosis: a biosocial model for sustainable development. *The Lancet. Volume* 386, Issue 10010, 5–11 December 2015, Pages 2354-2362. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(15)00324-4
- Ozcaglar, C., Shabbeer, A., Vandenberg, S. L., Yener, B., & Bennett, K. P. (2012).

  Epidemiological models of Mycobacterium tuberculosis complex infections.

  Mathematical biosciences, 236(2), 77–96.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mbs.2012.02.003">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mbs.2012.02.003</a>
- Padayatchi, N., Naidu, N., Friedland, G., Naidoo, K., Conradie, F., Naidoo, K., & O, D.
  M. R. (2017). Turning the tide against tuberculosis. *International Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 56, 6–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijid.2017.01.012
- Pankhurst, L. J., Del Ojo Elias, C., Votintseva, A. A., Walker, T. M., Cole, K., Davies, J.,
  Fermont, J. M., Gascoyne-Binzi, D. M., Kohl, T. A., Kong, K., Lemaitre, N.,
  Niemann, S., Paul, J., Rogers, T. R., Roycroft, E., Smith, E. G., Philip Supply, P.,
  Patrick Tang, P., Wilcox, M. H., Wordsworth, S... & Crook, D. W. (2016).
  Rapid, comprehensive, and affordable mycobacterial diagnosis with whole-genome sequencing: a prospective study. *The Lancet. Respiratory Medicine*, 4(1), 49–58. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2213-2600(15)00466-X
- Pareek, M., Greenaway, C., Noori, T., Munoz, J. and Zenner, D. (2016). The impact of migration on tuberculosis epidemiology and control in high-income countries: a review. Biomed Central. *BMC Medicine* (2016) 14:48

# https://doi.org/10.1186/s12916-016-0595-5

- Patino, C. M., & Ferreira, J. C. (2018). Internal and external validity: can you apply research study results to your patients? *Jornal brasileiro de pneumologia:*publicacao oficial da Sociedade Brasileira de Pneumologia e Tisilogia, 44(3),

  183. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1590/S1806-37562018000000164">https://doi.org/10.1590/S1806-37562018000000164</a>
- Patterson. D. A., Welte, J.W., Barnes, G. M., Tidwell, M. O., & Spicer, P. (2015).

  Sociocultural Influences on Gambling and Alcohol Use Among Native Americans in the United States. *Journal of gamble studies.* 2015 December; 31(4): 1387–1404. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10899-014-9512-z
- Pezzino, G. (2012). Guide to the Application of Genotyping to Tuberculosis Prevention and Control. CDC. Division of tuberculosis elimination.

  <a href="https://www.cdc.gov/tb/programs/genotyping/chap1/intro\_1\_intro.htm">https://www.cdc.gov/tb/programs/genotyping/chap1/intro\_1\_intro.htm</a>
- Podewils, L. J., Alexy, E., Driver, S. J., Cheek, J. E., Holman, R. C., Haberling, D., Brett,
  M., McCray, E. & Redd, J.T. (2014). Understanding the Burden of Tuberculosis
  Among American Indians/Alaska Natives in the US: A Validation Study. *Public Health Reports*, 129(4), 351-360. https/doi.org/10.1177/003335491412900410
- Ponicki, W. R., Henderson, J. A., Gaidus, A., Gruenewald, P. J., Lee, J. P., Moore, R. S. & Tilsen, N. (2018). Spatial Epidemiology of Alcohol- and Drug-Related Health Problems Among Northern Plains American Indians: Nebraska and South Dakota, 2007 to 2012. Alcoholism, *Clinical and Experimental Research*, 42(3), 578–588. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/acer.13580">https://doi.org/10.1111/acer.13580</a>
- Poverty line. (2020). In dictionary.com https://www.dictionary.com/browse/poverty-

## line?s=t

- Prats, C., Montañola-Sales, C., Gilabert-Navarro, J. F., Valls, J., Casanovas-Garcia, J.,
  Vilaplana, C., Cardona, P. J. & López, D. (2016). Individual-Based Modeling of
  Tuberculosis in a User-Friendly Interface: Understanding the Epidemiological
  Role of Population Heterogeneity in a City. Frontiers in microbiology, 6, 1564.
  https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2015.01564
- Public Health. (2020). *In Oxford Dictionary*.

  <a href="https://www.lexico.com/en/definition/public\_health">https://www.lexico.com/en/definition/public\_health</a>
- Puerto, G., Erazo, L., Wintaco, M., Castro, C., Ribón, W., & Guerrero, M. I. (2015).
   Mycobacterium tuberculosis Genotypes Determined by Spoligotyping to Be
   Circulating in Colombia between 1999 and 2012 and Their Possible Associations
   with Transmission and Susceptibility to First-Line Drugs. *Plos One*, 10(6),
   e0124308. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0124308
- Rangaka, M. X., Cavalcante, S. C., Marais, B. J., Thim, S., Martinson, N. A., Swaminathan, S., & Chaisson, R. E. (2015). Controlling the seedbeds of tuberculosis: diagnosis and treatment of tuberculosis infection. *Lancet (London, England)*, 386(10010), 2344–2353. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(15)00323-2">https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(15)00323-2</a>
- Reilley, B., Bloss, E., Byrd, K. K., Iralu, J., Neel, L., & Cheek, J. (2014). Death Rates from Human Immunodeficiency Virus and Tuberculosis Among American Indians/Alaska Natives in the United States, 1990–2009. *American Journal of Public Health*, 104(Suppl 3), S453–S459.

### https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2013.301746

- Restrepo, B. I. (2016). Diabetes and Tuberculosis. *American society for microbiology. Microbiology spectrum, vol 4, no 6.*https://doi.org/10.1128/microbiolspec.TNMI7-0023-2016
- Rudestam, K. E., & Newton, R. R. (2015). Surviving your dissertation: A comprehensive guide to content and process (4th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Rylance, J., Pai, M., Lienhardt, C., & Garner, P. (2010). Priorities for tuberculosis research: a systematic review. *The Lancet Infectious Diseases*, 10(12), 889–892. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1473-3099(10)70201-2
- Salinas, J. L., Mindra, G., Haddad, M. B., Pratt, R., Price, S. F., & Langer, A. J. (2016).
  Leveling of Tuberculosis Incidence United States, 2013-2015. MMWR:
  Morbidity & Mortality Weekly Report, 65(11), 273–278.
  https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm6511a2
- Sandhu, G. K., (2011). Tuberculosis: Current Situation, Challenges and Overview of its Control Programs in India. *Journal of Global Infectious Diseases*. 2011. Apr-Jun; 3(2): 143-150. <a href="https://doi.org/10.4103/0974-777X.81691">https://doi.org/10.4103/0974-777X.81691</a>
- Schneider, E. (2005). Tuberculosis Among American Indians and Alaska Natives in the United States, 1993–2002. *American Journal of Public Health*, 95(5), 873–880. <a href="https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2004.052456">https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2004.052456</a>
- Scott, C., Cavanaugh, J. S., Pratt, R., Silk, B. J., LoBue, P., & Moonan, P. K. (2016).
   Human Tuberculosis Caused by Mycobacterium bovis in the United States, 2006 2013. Clinical Infectious Diseases: An Official Publication of The Infectious

- Diseases Society Of America, 63(5), 594–601. https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/ciw371
- Schito, M., Hanna, D., & Zumla, A. (2017). Tuberculosis eradication versus control.

  \*International Journal of Infectious Diseases, 56, 10–13.\*

  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijid.2016.11.007
- Service Learning: A Vehicle for Building Health Equity and Eliminating Health Disparities. (2015). *American Journal of Public Health. March 2015*. https://ajph.aphapublications.org/doi/full/10.2105/AJPH.2014.302364
- Séraphin, N. M., Lauzardo, M., Doggett, R. T., Zabala, J., Morris Jr, J. G. & Blackburn, J. K. (2016). Spatiotemporal Clustering of Mycobacterium tuberculosis Complex Genotypes in Florida: Genetic Diversity Segregated by Country of Birth. *PLOS One*. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0153575
- Stein, C. M., Sausville, L., Wejse, C., Sobota, R. S., Zetola, Z. M., Hill, P. C., Boom, W. H., Scott, W. K., Sirugo, G. & Williams, S. M. (2017). Genomics of Human
  Pulmonary Tuberculosis: from Genes to Pathways. Current Genetic Medicine
  Reports 5, 149–166. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40142-017-0130-9
- Soonhee Roh, Burnette, C. E., Kyoung Hag Lee, Yeon-Shim Lee, & Goins, R. T. (2016).

  Correlates of Receipt of Colorectal Cancer Screening among American Indians in the Northern Plains. *Social Work Research*, 40(2), 95–104.

  https://doi.org/10.1093/swr/svw006
- Sougakoff, B. C., W., Fournier, A., Larnaudie, S., Antoun, F., Robert, J., Brossier, F.,

  Truffot Pernot, C., Jarlier, V., and Veziris, N. (2012). Impact of a 14-year
  screening programme on tuberculosis transmission among the homeless in Paris.

Internal Journal of Tuberculosis Lung Disease, 16(5):649–655. http://dx.doi.org/10.5588/ijtld.11.0241

South Dakota Population. (2019). <a href="http://worldpopulationreview.com/states/south-dakota/">http://worldpopulationreview.com/states/south-dakota/</a>

Stanley, L. R., & Swaim, R. C. (2018). Latent Classes of Substance Use Among

American Indian and White Students Living on or Near Reservations, 2009-2013.

Public Health Reports, 133(4), 432–441.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0033354918772053

Statistic Solutions (2019a). Sample Size Formula.

https://www.statisticssolutions.com/sample-size-formula/

Statistics Solutions (2019b). What is Logistic Regression?

<a href="https://www.statisticssolutions.com/what-is-logistic-regression/">https://www.statisticssolutions.com/what-is-logistic-regression/</a>

- Stewart, R. J., Tsang, C. A., Pratt, R. H., Price, S. F. & Langer, A. J. Tuberculosis —

  United States, 2017. MMWR Morbidity/ Mortality Weekly Rep 2018;67: 317–323.

  http://dx.doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm6711a2
- Stock, D. (2017). National position statement for the management of latent tuberculosis infection. *Communicable Diseases Intelligence Quarterly Report*, 41(3), E204–E208.

https://www1.health.gov.au/internet/main/publishing.nsf/Content/94C538887521 9E11CA2581FE0003EB5F/\$File/CDI4103-d.pdft

Stoltzfus, J.C. (2011). Logistic regression: a brief primer. *Academy Emergency Medicine*. 2011 Oct;18(10):1099-104. https://dio.org/10.1111/j.1553-2712.2011.01185.x

Substance abuse and mental health services administration (SAMHSA). (2018). 2018

- National Survey of Drug Use and Health (NSDUH) Releases. https://www.samhsa.gov/data/release/2018-national-survey-drug-use-and-health-nsduh-releases
- Talkpoverty.org (2017) <a href="https://talkpoverty.org/state-year-report/south-dakota">https://talkpoverty.org/state-year-report/south-dakota</a> 2017-report/
- Talwar A., Tsang C. A., Price S. F., Pratt, R. H., Walker, W. L., Schmit, K. M., & Langer, A. J. Tuberculosis United States, 2018. MMWR *Morbidity /Mortality Weekly Report 2019;68:257–262*. http://dx.doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm6811a2
- TB Alert (n.d.) for a future without TB, Tuberculosis and substance abuse.

  https://www.tbalert.org/about-tb/global-tb-challenges/tb-substancemisuse/#:~:text=People%20who%20misuse%20drugs%20or,they%20need%20to
  %20stay%20healthy
- Teeter, L. D., Kammerer, J. S., Ghosh, S., Nguyen, D. T. M., Vempaty, P., Tapia, J., Miramontes, R., Cronin, W. A. & Graviss, E. A. (2017). Evaluation of 24-locus MIRU-VNTR genotyping in Mycobacterium tuberculosis cluster investigations in four jurisdictions in the United States, 2006–2010. *Tuberculosis*, 106, 9–15. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tube.2017.05.003">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tube.2017.05.003</a>
- Tesfaye, B., Mersha, E. & Tilahun A. (2015). Self-reported race/ethnicity in the age of genomic research: its potential impact on understanding health disparities *Human Genomics 9,1*. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40246-014-0023-x
- Teufel-Shone, N. I., Tippens, J. A., McCrary, H. C., Ehiri, J. E., & Sanderson, P. R. (2018). Resilience in American Indian and Alaska Native Public Health: An

- Underexplored Framework. American *Journal of Health Promotion*, 32(2), 274–281. https://doi.org/10.1177/0890117116664708
- The use of theory. (2008). Sage Publication Inc.

  https://www.sagepub.com/sites/default/files/upm-binaries/22781 Chapter 3.pdf
- Thornton, R. (2015) Americas, Sociocultural Overviews: North America, Native

  Americans. *International Encyclopedia of the Social & Behavioral Sciences*(Second Edition), 2015, Pages 633-637
- Tipps, R. T., Buzzard, G. T., & McDougall, J. A. (2018). The Opioid Epidemic in Indian Country. *Journal of Law, Medicine & Ethics, 46*(2), 422–436. https://doi.org/10.1177/1073110518782950
- Tuite, A. R., Guthrie, J. L., Alexander, D. C., Whelan, M. S., Lee, B., Lam, K., Ma, J., Fisman, D. N. & Jamieson, F. B. (2013). Epidemiological evaluation of spatiotemporal and genotypic clustering of Mycobacterium tuberculosis in Ontario, Canada. *The International Journal of Tuberculosis and Lung Disease*, *Volume 17, Number 10, 1 October 2013*, pp. 1322-1327. https://doi.org/10.5588/ijtld.13.0145
- Unal, D. (2018). Sovereignty and social justice: how the concepts affect federal American Indian policy and American Indian health. *Social Work in Public Health*, 33(4), 259–270. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/19371918.2018.1462287">https://doi.org/10.1080/19371918.2018.1462287</a>
- Urban, J. B., & van Eeden-Moorefield, B. M. (2018). Establishing validity for quantitative studies. In Designing and proposing your research project. (p. 111–117). American Psychological Association. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1037/0000049-009">https://doi.org/10.1037/0000049-009</a>

- US Preventive Services Task Force, Bibbins-Domingo, K., Grossman, D. C., Curry, S. J., Bauman, L., Davidson, K. W., Epling Jr, J. W., García, F. A.R., Herzstein, J., Kemper, A. R., Krist, A. H., Kurth, A. E., Landefeld, C. S., Mangione, C. M., Phillips, W. R., Phipps, M. G., & Pignone, M. P. (2016). Screening for Latent Tuberculosis Infection in Adults: US Preventive Services Task Force Recommendation Statement. *JAMA*: *Journal of the American Medical Association*, *316*(9), 962–969. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2016.11046
- Vaeth, P. A. C., Wang-Schweig, M., & Caetano, R. (2017). Drinking, Alcohol Use Disorder, and Treatment Access and Utilization Among US Racial/Ethnic Groups. *Alcoholism, Clinical and Experimental Research*, 41(1), 6–19. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/acer.13285">https://doi.org/10.1111/acer.13285</a>
- Volkmann, T., Moonan, P.K., Miramontes, R. & Oeltmann, J.E. (2016). Tuberculosis and excess alcohol use in the United States, 1997–2012. *International Journal of Tuberculosis Lung Disease*. 2015 January; 19(1): 111–119.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.5588/ijtld.14.0516">https://doi.org/10.5588/ijtld.14.0516</a>
- Votintseva, A. A, Bradley, P, Pankhurst, L., del Ojo Elias, C., Loose, M., Nilgiriwala, K.
  A. Chatterjee, E. Smith, G., Sanderson, N., Walker, T. M., Morgan, M. R.,
  Wyllie, D.H., Walker, S. A., Peto, T.E. A., Crook, D. W., & Iqbal, I., (2017).
  Same-Day Diagnostic and Surveillance Data for Tuberculosis via Whole-Genome
  Sequencing of Direct Respiratory Samples. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology Apr*2017, 55 (5) 1285-1298; https://doi/org/10.1128/JCM.02483-16
- Walden University. (n.d. Office of Student Research Administration: Ph.D. Dissertation

- Program. http://accademicguides.waladenu.edu/researchcenter/osra/phd
- Walker, T. M., Kohl, T. A., Omar, S. V., Hedge, J., Del Ojo Elias, C., Bradley, P.,
  Iqbal, Z., Feuerriegel, S., Niehaus, K. E., Wilson, D. J., Clifton, D. A., Kapatai,
  G., Ip, C. L. C., Bowden, R., Drobniewski, F. A., Allix-Béguec, C., Gaudin, C.,
  Parkhill, J., Diel, R., Supply, P... & Peto, T. E. A. (2015). Whole-genome
  sequencing for prediction of Mycobacterium tuberculosis drug susceptibility and
  resistance: a retrospective cohort study. *The Lancet Infectious Diseases*, 15(10),
  1193–1202. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/S1473-3099(15)00062-6">https://doi.org/10.1016/S1473-3099(15)00062-6</a>
- Warne, D. & Wescott, S. (2019). Social Determinants of American Indian Nutritional

  Health. Current Developments in Nutrition, Volume 3, Issue Supplement\_2,

  August 2019, Pages 12–18, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1093/cdn/nzz054">https://doi.org/10.1093/cdn/nzz054</a>
- Weaver, H. N., (2012). Urban and Indigenous: The Challenges of being a Native

  American in the City. *Journal of Community Practice*, [s. l.], v. 20, n. 4, p. 470–488, https://doi.org/10.1080/10705422.2012.732001
- WebMD. (2020). Alcohol abuse Alcohol use disorder. http://www.WebMD.com
- Witney, A., Cosgrove, C. A, Arnold, A., Hinds, J., Stoker, N. G.& Butcher, P. D. (2016).

  Clinical use of whole genome sequencing for Mycobacterium tuberculosis. *BMC*Medicine volume 14, Article number: 46 <a href="https://doi.org/10.1186/s12916-016-0598-2">https://doi.org/10.1186/s12916-016-0598-2</a>
- World Health Organization (2018). Global Tuberculosis Report 2018. https://www.who.int/tb/publications/global\_report/en/
- Warne, D. & Lajimodiere, D., (2015) American Indian health disparities: psychosocial

- influences. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/spc3.12198">https://doi.org/10.1111/spc3.12198</a>
- Yang, C., Luo, T., Shen, X., Wu, J., Gan, M., Xu, P., Xu, P., Wu, Z., Lin, S., Tian, J., Liu, Q., Yuan, Z., Mei, J., DeRiemer, K. & Gao, Q. (2017). Transmission of multidrug resistant Mycobacterium tuberculosis in Shanghai, China: a retrospective observational study using whole-genome sequencing and epidemiological investigation. *The Lancet. Infectious Diseases*, 17(3), 275–284. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/S1473-3099(16)30418-2">https://doi.org/10.1016/S1473-3099(16)30418-2</a>
- Yasin, A. (2017) Some new methods to solve multicollinearity in logistic regression,

  Communications in Statistics Simulation and Computation, 46:4, 2576-2586,

  https://dio.org/10.1080/03610918.2015.1053925
- Yin, R. K. (1994). Discovering the Future of the Case Study. Method in Evaluation Research. Evaluation Practice, 15(3), 283–290. https://doi.org/10.1177/109821409401500309
- Yuen, C. M., Kammerer, J.S., Marks, K., Navin, T.R., & France, A.M. (2016) Recent Transmission of Tuberculosis—United States, 2011–2014. *PLoS ONE 11(4):* e0153728. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0153728
- Yost, D. & Iralu, J. (2016), Indian Health Service Tuberculosis Grand Rounds.

  <a href="https://www.ihs.gov/telebehavioral/includes/themes/newihstheme/display\_objects/documents/slides/clinicalrounds/tb\_0416.pdf">https://www.ihs.gov/telebehavioral/includes/themes/newihstheme/display\_objects/documents/slides/clinicalrounds/tb\_0416.pdf</a>
- Zak, D. E., Penn-Nicholson, A., Scriba, T. J., Thompson, E., Suliman, S., Amon, L. M., Mahomed, H., Erasmus, M., Whatney, W., Hussey, G. D., Abrahams, D., Kafaar, F., Hawkridge, T., Verver, S., Hughes, E. J., Ota, M., Sutherland, J., Howe, R.,

Dockrell, H. M... & Hanekom, W. A. (2016). A blood RNA signature for tuberculosis disease risk: a prospective cohort study. *Lancet.* 2016 Jun 4;387(10035):2312-2322. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(15)01316-1.

Zhang, J., Li, Y. & Zhang, X. (2015). Mathematical modeling of tuberculosis data of China. *Journal of Theoretical Biology. Volume 365, 21 January 2015*, Pages 159-163 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtbi.2014.10.019